# 2022-2025 Collective Agreement

between

# The Emily Carr University of Art + Design

and

CUPE Local 15 Vancouver Municipal Education and Community Workers

# **Table of Contents**

1.0	Term of Agreement	. 1
2.0	Definitions and Coverage for Employee Benefits	. 1
2.1	Definitions	. 1
2.2	Permanent Employee	. 1
2.3	Probationary Employee	. 1
2.4	Temporary Employees and Positions	. 2
2.5	Casual Employees and Positions	. 4
2.6	Creation of Permanent Part-Time or Term Positions	. 5
2.7	Permanent Part-Time Employees and Positions	. 5
2.8	Permanent Term Employees and Positions	
2.9	Access to Additional Casual Work for Permanent Employees	
3.0	Rights of Management	. 9
4.0	Union Security	. 9
4.1	Union Membership	. 9
4.2	Union Insignia	. 9
4.3	Picket Lines	. 9
4.4	Checkoff	. 9
4.5	Union Leave	. 9
4.6	Union Activity	10
4.7	Shop Stewards	10
4.8	Membership Information	11
4.9	Financial Information	
4.10	Personnel File	11
4.11	Correspondence	
4.12	Disciplinary Meetings	
4.13	Discipline or Dismissal	
5.0	Joint Consultation Committee	12
6.0	Grievance and Arbitration Procedure	13
6.1	Grievance Procedure	
6.2	Informal Resolution (OPTIONAL)	
6.3	Step 1	
6.4	Step 2	
6.5	Step 3 - Investigator	
6.6	Step 4 - Arbitration	
6.7	Time Limits	
6.8	Reinstatement	
6.9	Alternate Dispute Resolution Methods	
7.0	Job Evaluation and Salary Review	16
7.1	Terms of Reference	
7.2	Review Procedure	
7.3	Appeal Process – Job Evaluation Review	
7.4	Appeal Process – Anomalous Positions	
7.5	Adjustments to Salary	
7.6	New Positions	
7.7	Excluded Positions	

8.0 Working Conditions	19
8.1 Days and Hours of Work	19
8.2 Flex Time	20
8.3 Experimental Work Schedules	21
8.4 Second Shifts	21
8.5 Overtime	21
8.6 Excess Workload	22
9.0 Wages and Premiums	23
9.1 Salary Schedule	
9.2 Increments	23
9.3 Substitution	23
9.4 Pay Dates	
9.5 Workshop Presentations	24
9.6 Recovery of Overpayments	24
10.0 Employee Benefits	25
10.1 Annual Vacation	25
10.2 Winter Break	26
10.3 General Holidays	27
10.4 Permanent Part-time Benefit Coverage	
10.5 Sick Leave	
10.6 Municipal Pension Plan	28
10.7 Deferred Savings Plan	
10.8 Health Insurance	
10.9 Employee and Family Assistance Plan	29
10.10 Group Life Insurance	
10.11 Long Term Disability	30
10.12 Gratuity Plan	31
10.13 Dental Plan	32
10.14 Retirement	32
10.15 Early Retirement	33
10.16 Benefits Plan Information	33
10.17 Death Benefit	34
10.18 Same Gender Spouse	34
10.19 Personal Computer Purchase Plan	34
10.20 Bike Purchase Plan	34
11.0 Absence from Duty	34
11.1 Occupational Sickness and Injury	34
11.2 Disability Management Program	34
11.3 Family Illness	
11.4 Bereavement Leave	35
11.5 Compassionate Care Leave	36
11.6 Leave for Domestic or Sexual Violence	37
11.7 Cultural Leave for Aboriginal Employees	37
11.8 Leave of Absence Without Pay	37
11.9 Jury Duty and Court Appearance	
11.10 Armed Forces Reserve Training	38
11.11 Emergency Response Leave	
11.12 Gender Affirmation Leave	
11.13 British Columbia Employment Standards Act	38
12.0 Parenting Leave	39

12.1	Maternity Leave	
12.2	Parental Leave	40
12.3	General Conditions	40
12.4	Regular Supplementary Employment Benefits	41
12.5	Special Supplementary Employment Benefits	
13.0	Layoff, Recall and Severance Pay	12
13.1	Layoff	
	•	
13.2		
13.3	Severance Pay	
14.0	Seniority	
14.1	Definition	
14.2	Seniority List	
14.3	Loss of Seniority	
14.4	Service Transfer Agreement	44
15.0	Educational and Professional Development	45
15.1	Education Leave	
15.2	Professional Development Leave	
15.3	Professional Development	
15.4	Emily Carr Courses	
10.1		
16.0	Employee Rights	
16.1	Human Rights	
16.2	Personal Duties	
16.4	Use of Audio and/or Video Recording Devices in Meetings	
16.5	Ethics and University Policy	
16.6	Written Response	
16.7	Personal Harassment	
17.0	Notification and Filling of Vacancies	
17.1	Notification of Vacancies	
17.2	Filling of Vacancies	
17.3	Promotion or Transfer	
17.4	Rehiring	
17.5	Early Return From Leave	51
17.6	Hiring Committees	51
18.0	Health and Safety	51
18.1	Workers Compensation Act	
18.9	Training	
	Protective Clothing	
18.11		
	Pregnant Employees	
	First Aid Training	
	First Aid Premium	
19.0	Workplace Changes	52
19.1	Technological Change	
19.2	General Changes	
19.3	Notice of Construction and Workplace Changes	
20.0	Miscellaneous Issues	54

20.1 20.2 20.3	Employment Standards Act Public University Board Meetings Intellectual Property	54
21.0 21.6	Production of Agreements Present Conditions and Benefits	
Scheo	dule A Allocation of Classifications to Pay Grades	
Schee	dule B	61
Scheo	dule C	70
	Letter of Understanding #1 – Great Northern Way	
	Letter of Understanding #2 – Deferred Salary Leave Plan	
	Letter of Understanding #3 – Discussions on Curricular Changes and their Impact	
	Letter of Understanding #4 – Re-examination of the Gender Neutral Plan	
	Letter of Understanding #5 – Wellness and Health Initiative Program (WHIP)	
	Letter of Understanding #6 – MSP Premiums	
	Letter of Understanding #7 – Service Improvement Allocation (SIA)	
	Letter of Understanding #8 – Gratuity Article 10.12	
	Letter of Understanding #9 – Critical Incident Stress Debrief Program	73
	Letter of Understanding #10 – Telecommuting	
	Letter of Understanding #11 – Cost of Living Adjustment	73
Scheo	dule D	75
	Grievance Procedure	
Scheo	dule E	
	Table Showing Vacation Entitlement in Hours	76
Schor	dule F	77
Schel	Labour Relations Code	
INDEX		78

THIS AGREEMENT IS BETWEEN THE EMILY CARR UNIVERSITY OF ART + DESIGN ("the University") AND CUPE LOCAL 15, VANCOUVER MUNICIPAL EDUCATION AND COMMUNITY WORKERS ("the Union").

# 1.0 Term of Agreement

- 1.1 This Agreement will be for a term of 36 months from **April 1, 2022 to March 31, 2025**, both dates inclusive.
- 1.2 The Agreement, including all Schedules, Appendices, Letters of Agreement or other attachments will continue in full force and effect, following the expiry date, until:
  - the Union commences a lawful strike; or
  - the University commences a lawful lockout; or
  - the Union and the University enter a new or amended Agreement.
- 1.3 The application of Sections 50 (2) and (3) of the *Labour Relations Code* is excluded from this Agreement.

# 2.0 Definitions and Coverage for Employee Benefits

# 2.1 <u>Definitions</u>

- 2.1.1 "University" means the Board of Governors of the Emily Carr University of Art + Design.
- 2.1.2 "University President" means the appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Emily Carr University of Art + Design.
- 2.1.3 "Union" means CUPE Local 15, Vancouver Municipal Education and Community Workers.
- 2.1.4 Singular and Plural

When the singular is used in this Agreement, it will include the plural, and vice versa, when the context requires.

# 2.2 <u>Permanent Employee</u>

A permanent employee is one who has been appointed to permanent staff by the University following the successful completion of the probationary period as provided for in Clause 2.3. A permanent employee is entitled to all employee benefits provided by this Agreement.

# 2.3 <u>Probationary Employee</u>

- 2.3.1 A probationary employee is one who is engaged for a probationary period of six (6) working months to determine competence and suitability for a permanent position. The probation period may be extended by mutual agreement. Requests for extensions will not be unreasonably denied. A probationary employee will not be placed on permanent staff until the appointment is approved by the University.
- 2.3.2 The employment of a probationary employee can be terminated at any time during the probationary period without notice, subject to the grievance procedure.
- 2.3.3 A probationary employee is entitled immediately upon being hired to the following

employee benefits, as provided for in the appropriate clauses:

- Annual Vacations (Clause 10.1 and 2.4.17)
- General Holidays (Clause 10.3)
- Health Insurance (Clause 10.8)

# 2.4 <u>Temporary Employees and Positions</u>

- 2.4.1 A temporary position is a position which is expected to last for a specified term exceeding three (3) continuous months. Temporary positions may be extended, subject to other provisions in this Agreement.
- 2.4.2 Mutual agreement of the Union and the University is required for the creation of all temporary positions which will exceed one (1) year except those created due to a leave allowed by this Agreement.
- 2.4.3 An employee hired to a temporary position will be referred to in this Agreement as a temporary employee.
- 2.4.4 The first 850 hours of service as a temporary employee will be considered a probationary period in which the University shall determine competence and suitability for ongoing employment. The employee's status will remain temporary upon completion of this period. The probation period may be extended by mutual agreement. Requests for extensions will not be unreasonably denied.
- 2.4.5 The employment of a temporary employee can be terminated at any time during the probationary period, subject to the grievance procedure.
- 2.4.6 A temporary employee who has completed the probationary period and who is appointed on a permanent basis to the same position will not have to serve another probationary period.
- 2.4.7 A temporary employee who has not completed the probationary period and who is appointed on a permanent basis to the same position without a break in service will have the probationary period reduced by the number of hours worked.
- 2.4.8 A temporary employee who has completed a probationary period and who is appointed on a permanent basis to a different position will be required to complete a three (3) month trial period in the new position (see Clause 17.3 Promotion or Transfer). If the appointment is not confirmed, reversion to previous work will depend on such work being available.
- 2.4.9 A temporary employee, upon appointment to permanent staff, will be placed on the seniority list with an adjusted start date based on full-time equivalent service in the bargaining unit (see also Clauses 14.2 and 14.3).
- 2.4.10 A temporary position which has lasted twelve (12) months and is expected to continue will be made permanent and be posted.
- 2.4.11 A temporary employee who has completed 850 hours of service will be entitled to twelve percent (12%) of gross salary in lieu of benefits including:
  - Deferred Savings, Clause 10.7
  - Health Insurance, Clause 10.8
  - Group Life Insurance, Clause 10.10

- Gratuity Plan, Clause 10.12
- Dental Plan, Clause 10.13
- 2.4.12 A temporary employee who has:
  - completed one (1) continuous year of service averaging twenty-one (21) hours per week or more over the year; and
  - who is continuing in a position averaging twenty-one (21) hours per week or more, will have the option of continuing to receive twelve percent (12%) of gross salary in lieu of benefits or of receiving the benefits listed in clause 2.4.11. Temporary employees will only be entitled to single coverage for health insurance (excluding optical) and the dental plan (plan A only). Temporary employees will be entitled to the gratuity plan only for full quarters worked. The election to receive benefit coverage must be made during the twelfth (12th) month of employment and may not be revoked thereafter.
- 2.4.13 Temporary employees who are appointed to positions of one (1) continuous year or more will be entitled to participate in Clause 8.2, Flex Time, for periods of complete continuous years only.
- 2.4.14 A temporary employee who has completed 850 hours will receive an increment step increase.
- 2.4.15 Temporary employees will receive additional increment increases on the completion of each additional 1700 hours of service or one (1) additional year, whichever is greater, until they reach the top step.
- 2.4.16 Temporary employees appointed to permanent positions who are at step two (2) or higher will have their next increment date based on a year from the date they were made permanent, less an adjustment to recognise the hours worked as temporary employees.

#### Example: <u>hours since last increment x 52 weeks</u> = adjustment in weeks 1700 hours

- 2.4.17 For temporary employees, 1700 hours of service will equal one (1) year of service for vacation entitlement (see Clause 10.1, Annual Vacation). Vacation pay will be calculated on the basis of seven (7) hours of vacation entitlement equals four tenths of one percent (0.4%) of salary. Temporary employees who are appointed to permanent positions will be placed on the vacation entitlement scale in Clause 10.1.1 in the year crediting one year's service for each 1700 hours of continuous service.
- 2.4.18 At the time of employment and annually after that, temporary employees, excluding those in a term assignment, can elect to either receive vacation pay as calculated above or paid vacation time. Employees who elect paid vacation time and who are unable to schedule such vacation prior to the expiry of their appointment will be entitled to receive vacation pay on their final pay cheques.
- 2.4.19 Temporary employees will be entitled to the **Winter** Break (Clause 10.2) provided they are scheduled to work up to the break. The break will be pro-rated by straight time earned in the calendar year divided by 1785.
- 2.4.20 Temporary employees will be paid for all general holidays that fall within their assignments.

- 2.4.21 Temporary employees will be credited with ten (10) days **<u>paid</u>** sick leave after the completion of each 850 hours of service. Sick leave may be accumulated to a maximum of 261 days. Temporary employees are not entitled to the sick leave provisions in Clause 10.5, Sick Leave.
- 2.4.22 For the purposes of sick leave, a day is a day, even if less than seven (7) hours and paid only for the days an employee is scheduled to work.
- 2.4.23 Temporary employees may be advanced up to five (5) days of **paid** sick leave **and shall not be required to repay the advance should the employee cease employment following ninety (90) consecutive calendar days of service. If** the **employee** ceases employment before earning it back, the advance will be deducted from their final pay.
- 2.4.24 Any accrued sick leave at the conclusion of a temporary appointment may not be carried over to another temporary appointment, if there is a break in service.
- 2.4.25 Temporary employees will be entitled to Emily Carr courses (Clause 15.4).
- 2.4.26 Temporary employees are entitled to a minimum of two (2) weeks' notice if they are laid off from their position prior to the prescheduled end, including any extensions. Temporary employees filling positions of uncertain duration, such as sick leave replacements, will not be entitled to layoff notice when the regular incumbents return.
- 2.4.27 Temporary employees who have completed one (1) continuous year of service will be entitled to the provisions of Clause 13.3, Severance Pay, if they are laid off from their position prior to the prescheduled end, including any extensions. Temporary employees hired for a position of uncertain length such as sick leave replacement will not be entitled to severance pay.
- 2.4.28 A temporary employee who has completed the 850 hour probationary period and is a current employee of the University will have preference over outside applicants for vacancies, but permanent employees will have preference over them.

# 2.5 Casual Employees and Positions

- 2.5.1 An employee hired on an on-call basis or hired in a position expected to last three (3) months or less will be referred to in this Agreement as a casual employee.
- 2.5.2 Casual employees who have completed 850 hours of service will receive twelve percent (12%) of gross salary in lieu of benefits including:
  - Sick Leave, Clause 10.5
  - Deferred Savings, Clause 10.7
  - Health Insurance, Clause 10.8
  - Group Life Insurance, Clause 10.10
  - Gratuity Plan, Clause 10.12
  - Dental Plan, Clause 10.13
- 2.5.3 A casual employee who has completed 850 hours of service will receive an increment increase.
- 2.5.4 Casual employees will receive additional increment increases on completion of each additional 1700 hours of service or additional one (1) year, whichever is greater, until they reach the top step.

2.5.5 Casual employees appointed to permanent positions who are at step 2 or higher will have their next increment date based on a year from the date they were made permanent, less an adjustment to recognize the hours worked as casual employees.

#### Example: <u>hours since last increment x 52 weeks</u> = adjustment in weeks 1700 hours

- 2.5.6 Casual employees will receive vacation pay on each pay cheque. Vacation pay will be calculated on the basis of seven (7) hours of vacation entitlement equals four-tenths of one percent (0.4%) of salary (see Clause 10.1, Annual Vacation).
- 2.5.7 Casual employees are not entitled to any pay related to the **Winter** Break, Clause 10.2.
- 2.5.8 Casual employees will be paid **five** and **two**-tenths percent (**5.2**%) of gross pay in lieu of paid general holidays, Clause 10.3.
- 2.5.9 Casual employees will be covered by the provisions of Clause 17.5, Rehiring, if called back for additional casual work or if appointed to temporary positions.
- 2.5.10 Casual employees who work for more than three (3) continuous months will automatically become temporary employees and will be covered by Clause 2.4, Temporary Employees and Positions.

#### 2.6 <u>Creation of Permanent Part-Time or Term Positions</u>

- 2.6.1 The University will advise the Union when a new permanent part-time or term position is created.
- 2.6.2 The University will provide the Union with specific information outlining the considerations made in the establishment of the new position being less than full-time or twelve (12) months.
- 2.6.3 Should the University contemplate changing a vacated twelve month (12) month position to term, the University will consult with the Union and employees in the affected department prior to making the change.
- 2.6.4 Term positions will be used as a preferred alternative to ongoing temporary positions.

#### 2.7 <u>Permanent Part-Time Employees and Positions</u>

- 2.7.1 With the agreement of the employee, the University may permanently increase the hours of a position.
- 2.7.2 If a position is permanently increased by more than twenty-five percent (25%) or to fulltime, and the incumbent has less than two years seniority, the position will be reposted to allow senior employees to apply.
- 2.7.3 Annual Vacation Entitlement (Clause 10.1), Sick Leave (Clause 10.5), Gratuity accrual (Clause 10.12) and **Winter** Break (Clause 10.2) will be pro-rated according to the regular hours of work divided by 1820 hours. Regular hours of work means all scheduled hours of work, excluding overtime, plus all paid leave.
- 2.7.4 Permanent part-time employees will not be enrolled in the Municipal Pension Plan prior to completing two (2) years of continuous employment and having earned at least 35 percent (35%) of Canada Pension Plan's Year's Maximum Pensionable Earnings

(YMPE) in each of two consecutive calendar years.

- 2.7.5 Permanent Part-time employees regularly working less than forty percent (40%) of fulltime and Part-time Term employees working less than forty percent (40%) of the work term as outlined in 2.8.2 are not eligible for benefit coverage. Such employees will receive twelve percent (12%) of gross salary in lieu of benefits which shall include:
  - Sick Leave, Clause 10.5
  - Deferred Savings, Clause 10.7
  - Health Insurance, Clause, 10.8
  - Group Life Insurance, Clause 10.10
  - Gratuity Plan, Clause 10.12
  - Dental Plan, Clause 10.13
- 2.7.6 When a holiday under Clause 10.3, General Holidays, falls on a day employees would otherwise work, they will be paid for their regular hours for that day. If a general holiday falls on a day when they would not otherwise work, they will be paid on a pro-rated basis of full-time equivalent hours.

# 2.8 <u>Permanent Term Employees and Positions</u>

- 2.8.1 Where a Term position is established on a part-time basis, the same rules applicable to changes in a permanent part-time employee's hours will apply (see Clauses 2.7.1 and 2.7.2).
- 2.8.2 Term employees and positions will normally be scheduled as follows:
  - From mid-August to the end of semester in December
  - From beginning of January to end of May
  - additional days immediately prior to or immediately following, the normal schedule, as may be added with agreement of the employees. The University will endeavour to notify affected employees of such extension with a minimum of 30 days notice.
  - Term positions non-essential to the annual student exhibitions may have a shorter term length in spring, which shall end no earlier than the end of term in April, and will be notified with a minimum of 60 days notice of the change.
- 2.8.3 Term employees will be considered to be temporarily laid-off during the designated break periods as specified in their appointment letters without bumping or severance pay rights. If term employees are not returned to work at the end of the prescribed break periods, they may exercise full rights under Clause 13.0, Layoff, Recall and Severance Pay, and any related Clauses.
- 2.8.4 During the normal layoff period Term employees will continue to be covered by all provisions of the Agreement but will not receive salary or paid leave.
- 2.8.5 During the normal layoff period Term employees will be eligible to participate in all University benefit plans. Arrangements may be made to deduct amounts from their salary during the working period sufficient to cover their normal share of benefit premiums over the layoff period.
- 2.8.6 If the break period from the end of May to mid-August is extended, Term employees may continue to be covered by all benefits provided they pay the full cost of the premiums.

- 2.8.7 Subject to Clause 2.8.8, Term employees are entitled to all general holidays with pay (Clause 10.3) that fall between mid-August and 31 May. They will be paid five and two-tenths percent (5.2%) of gross pay in lieu of paid general holidays for time paid between 1 June and mid-August.
- 2.8.8 Part-time and part-time Term employees will be paid for general holidays during their term as provided for in Clause 2.7.6.
- 2.8.9 Annual Vacation entitlement (Clause 10.1), and Sick Leave (Clause 10.5) will be prorated for Term employees according to their regular hours of work during the year divided by 1820 hours. Gratuity credits will be accumulated for full quarters worked during the following periods:
  - 1 January through 31 March
  - 1 June through 31 August
  - 1 October through 31 December

If a Term employee is not absent through illness during the months of April, May and September, they will receive an additional gratuity credit.

Regular hours of work means all scheduled hours of work, excluding overtime, plus all paid leave.

- 2.8.10 **Winter** Break (Clause 10.2) will be pro-rated for Term employees according to the percentage of full-time weekly hours they regularly work.
- 2.8.11 Each year of term employment will count as one (1) year for the purpose of increments, seniority and vacation entitlement.
- 2.8.12 Term employees will elect at the beginning of the term to take their vacation entitlement:
  - as additional money on each pay cheque; or
  - as a lump sum payment on an agreed date; or
  - as paid leave, subject to the operational requirements of the University and provided the employees do not have to be replaced.
- 2.8.13 Term employees who elect paid vacation time and are unable to schedule the vacation before the end of their term, can elect to be paid for the vacation at the end of the term or to carry the vacation over for the remainder of the calendar year. If they are unable to schedule the vacation before the end of the calendar year, they will be paid for it.
- 2.8.14 Term employees will not participate in the Flex Time Plan, Clause 8.2.
- 2.8.15 Term employees will be eligible to participate in the Municipal Pension Plan in accordance with Plan regulations.
- 2.8.16 The University may change a Term position to a twelve (12) month position provided that:
  - If the incumbent has less than two years seniority the position is reposted for application by senior employees; and
  - a minimum of three (3) months' notice of the change is given to the incumbent.
  - If agreeable to all parties, the three (3) month notice may be waived or reduced, by written request to the Union from the incumbent.

- 2.8.17 The University may only change an employee from a twelve (12) month assignment to term with the agreement of the incumbent, in consultation with the Union, and provided that a minimum of three months' notice of the change is given.
- 2.8.18 Term employees may qualify to receive Employment Insurance Benefits during their periods of layoff, subject to Employment Insurance Regulations.

#### 2.9 Access to Additional Casual Work for Permanent Employees

- 2.9.1 Except as provided for in Clause 20.13, Early Return from Leave, the University will contact in order of seniority, permanent part-time or term employees who have notified the Human Resources Department in writing of their interest in casual work, to offer additional casual work for which they are qualified provided there is no requirement for the University to change shift schedules. A list of qualified and interested employees will be maintained by the Human Resources Department.
- 2.9.2 Employees interested in additional work must inform the Human Resources Department in writing of the times they are available and their current address, telephone number and email address, if applicable.
- 2.9.3 It is in the employee's best interest to inform the Human Resources Department in writing of improved qualifications. An assessment of qualifications for the purposes of casual work assignment will be made on the basis of most recent information on the personnel file.
- 2.9.4 If suitable casual work becomes available, the Human Resources Department or designate will contact, from the list of interested and available employees, the permanent employee in accordance within the following timelines for contact and response:
  - if the casual work is to commence within two (2) weeks, contact will be by telephone. If an employee cannot be contacted the University will move to the next name on the list;
  - if the casual work is to commence between two (2) and four (4) weeks' time, contact will be by telephone or email. If an employee cannot be contacted or does not respond within forty-eight (48) hours, the University will move to the next name on the list;
  - if the casual work is to commence in over four (4) weeks time, contact will be by telephone and email or mail. If an employee cannot be contacted or does not respond within seven (7) days, the University will move to the next name on the list.
- 2.9.5 Additional hours, beyond employees' normal schedules, will not be considered overtime, unless their daily hours exceed seven (7), their weekly hours exceed thirty-five (35) or they work in excess of five (5) days in a week.
- 2.9.6 Employees who work additional hours in the same classification that they regularly work will be paid their regular hourly rate for all hours worked plus **five** and **two**-tenths percent (**5.2**%) in lieu of general holidays, and vacation pay based on their length of service. They will also receive deferred savings (Clause 10.7) and gratuity plan (Clause 10.12) for their additional hours.
- 2.9.7 Employees who work additional hours in a different classification than they regularly work will be paid the hourly rate for that classification plus deferred savings (Clause

10.7), and **five** and **two**-tenths percent (**5.2**%) in lieu of general holidays. Step placement on the scale and vacation pay shall be according to the employees length of service with the University.

# 3.0 Rights of Management

Any rights of Management which are not specifically mentioned in this Agreement and are not contrary to its intention will continue in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement. The exercise of management rights will be fair, reasonable, and without discrimination.

# 4.0 Union Security

# 4.1 <u>Union Membership</u>

Employees who are now members of the Union will remain members as a condition of employment. New employees will apply for membership in the Union within thirty (30) days of employment and will maintain their membership as a condition of employment.

#### 4.2 <u>Union Insignia</u>

- 4.2.1 A Union member will have the right to wear or display the recognized insignia of the Union. The Union agrees to furnish to the University President a Union shop card (when available) for each of the University's places of operation covered by this Agreement, to be displayed on the premises. The card will remain the property of the Union.
- 4.2.2 The recognized insignia of the Union will include the designation "signatory initials/CUPE 15, VMECW". This designation will, at the member's option, be placed below the signatory initials on typewritten correspondence.

# 4.3 <u>Picket Lines</u>

4.3.1 Employees will not be disciplined by the University for respecting a legal picket line established by a Labour Union or Association. Where employees refuse to cross a picket line at their normal place of duty, they will be considered absent without pay.

# 4.4 <u>Checkoff</u>

- 4.4.1 In accordance with the provisions of Section 16 of the *Labour Relations Code*, the University will deduct from the wages of any employee covered by this Agreement, Union dues and assessments levied in accordance with the bylaws of the Union. For new employees, these deductions will commence on their first day of employment.
- 4.4.2 Employees will complete an authorization form allowing the deduction of dues from their wages.

# 4.5 <u>Union Leave</u>

- 4.5.1 Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, Union business will not be conducted on University time.
- 4.5.2 Permission will be granted for up to four (4) members of the Bargaining Committee of the Union to leave their employment temporarily for the purpose of collective bargaining with the University. This leave will be without loss of pay for three (3) members, and the fourth, if required, will be subject to the payback system.

- 4.5.3 The payback system will be applied to preparation time for collective bargaining.
- 4.5.4 A grievor and a shop steward will be entitled to up to one (1) hour without loss of pay to prepare for Step 1 grievance meetings. Scheduling of this time will be arranged with the appropriate supervisors, who will take into consideration the needs of the departments.
- 4.5.5 A grievor will be entitled to attend meetings at any step of the grievance procedure (Clause 6.0), including arbitration hearings, without loss of pay. Except as provided for in Clause 4.5.4, the payback system will apply to preparation meetings between the grievor and the Union on University time.
- 4.5.6 A shop steward directly involved will be entitled to attend meetings at any step of the grievance procedure, including arbitration hearings. Except as provided for in Clause 4.5.4, attendance at any meetings outside of Steps 1 and 2 of the grievance procedure will be subject to the payback system, unless the attendance is required by the University.
- 4.5.7 Time off without pay will be granted to official representatives of the Union when it becomes necessary to transact business in connection with matters affecting members of the Union. The Union shall give as much notice as possible to the University of the request for leave of absence in order to minimize disruption to the operations. Such requests will not be unreasonably denied.
- 4.5.8 Every reasonable effort will be made to accommodate Union leave for other bargaining unit members, upon request by the Union to the University President.
- 4.5.9 When employees are on Union leave without pay and the payback system applies, the employees concerned will continue to receive their normal pay and benefits, and the Union will reimburse the University for their wages. Where such leave is granted, the Employer will replace the employee as necessary. The replacement cost of this provision will be borne by the University. Where replacement is not possible, the Employer will consult with the employee or department to discuss workload mitigation strategies as a result of the Union leave.
- 4.5.10 Employees elected to full-time Union office will, upon two (2) months advance application in writing to the University President, be granted leave of absence without pay and will continue to accumulate service for vacation entitlement and seniority and any other benefit related to length of service. Employees should apply for this leave in advance of actually being elected to provide the greatest possible notice if elected.

# 4.6 <u>Union Activity</u>

There will be no discrimination against any employee because of membership or activity in the Union or for the exercise of rights, privileges and benefits provided by this Agreement.

# 4.7 <u>Shop Stewards</u>

- 4.7.1 Where operational requirements permit, a shop steward will be given reasonable time off with pay to acquaint each new employee with the benefits and obligations of Union membership.
- 4.7.2 The Union will notify the University of its list of University shop stewards and will advise the University of any change to that list.

- 4.7.3 The University will make available private space to accommodate meetings between a Union representative and individual members.
- 4.7.4 The University agrees to make reasonable efforts to provide office space to the Union. Where providing space is feasible, the space will be at no cost to the Union. The Union acknowledges that delivery of University educational programs has priority for available space.

# 4.8 <u>Membership Information</u>

If the Union writes to the University requesting membership data information, the University will provide to the Union all of the information that is available from the University's records and will establish a system for updating and maintaining that information at intervals that are consistent with the University's system.

# 4.9 <u>Financial Information</u>

Upon request, the University will provide the Union with all financial information required to be made available under applicable legislation.

# 4.10 <u>Personnel File</u>

- **4.10.1** Employees or their designates will have access to all material in their personnel files at a time which is mutually convenient to the University and the employees in the presence of someone authorized by the University.
- **4.10.2** Upon written request by the employee, the University shall remove disciplinary letters and written reprimands from the employee's personnel file that are three years or older, provided that there have been no further disciplinary infractions of any nature within the preceding three year period.
- **4.10.3** Letters of discipline or written reprimands placed on an employee's file will be copied to the employee, within ten (10) working days, indicating placement on the file.
- **4.10.4** Failure to notify employees will result in the removal of the material from the file.
- **4.10.5** Any material placed on a file prior to 1 April 1992 will not be subject to Clauses **4.10.2**, **4.10.3** or **4.10.4**.
- **4.10.6** Except for routine administrative access, files will be open to other persons only with the written consent of the employee concerned.
- **4.10.7** A separate file will be established for grievance correspondence.

# 4.11 <u>Correspondence</u>

- **4.11.1** The University will make every effort to copy the Union on any and all correspondence to members of the bargaining unit that applies or interprets the Agreement or letters of termination or is a statement of University policy, or is a general notice for employees.
- **4.11.2** Should the University inadvertently fail to copy the Union on any of this correspondence, no penalty will apply. Should an error be discovered, it will be corrected retroactively.

# 4.12 Disciplinary Meetings

**4.12.1** An employee shall have the right to shop steward representation at any formal meeting with the University regarding matters of a potentially disciplinary nature involving the employee, and at any disciplinary meeting with the University.

Where a meeting becomes disciplinary, or where an employee states they feel it is a disciplinary meeting, the employee has the right to have a shop steward present, even if it involves temporarily adjourning the meeting. If the employee is a shop steward, the employee has the right to have another Union representative present.

- **4.12.2** The supervisor or manager will notify the Union of any meetings of a disciplinary or potentially disciplinary nature, and advise the employee of their right to have a shop steward present in advance of the meeting. The university will also inform the Union of any member-on-member conflicts.
- **4.12.3** Employees may also bring Shop Steward representation to the following scheduled non-disciplinary meetings:
  - Discussions around changes in duties
  - Restructuring of departments
  - Review or performance evaluations
  - Testimony on internal investigations

This provision is not meant to interfere with a manager's ability to conduct team meetings/discussions and to carry out day to day functions of an area.

**4.12.4** If Steward representation is requested by the employee, the Union will advise the University in advance of their attendance at these meetings.

# 4.13 Discipline or Dismissal

- **4.13.1** The Labour Relations Code, Section 84(3), currently requires the following provision to be in the Agreement: "The employer will not dismiss or discipline an employee bound by this agreement except for just and reasonable cause."
- **4.13.2** If the legislation changes, the Agreement will be changed accordingly.

# 5.0 Joint Consultation Committee

- 5.0.1 A Joint Consultation Committee will be established to consult about issues relating to the workplace that affect the Parties or any employee bound by this Agreement.
- 5.0.2 The Joint Consultation Committee shall consist of up to three (3) Union representatives (including the Staff Representative or designate) and up three (3) representatives from the University.
- 5.0.3 The Consultation Committee will meet quarterly and at the request of either Party. The agenda will be prepared at least one (1) week in advance of each meeting.
- 5.0.4 The purpose of the Consultation Committee is to promote the cooperative resolution of workplace issues, to respond and adapt to changes in the economy, to foster the development of work-related skills and to promote workplace productivity.
- 5.0.5 The Committee will not deal with violations of the Agreement which will be dealt with

through the grievance procedure (Clause 6.0).

- 5.0.6 When necessary and subject to the provisions of Section 54 of the *Labour Relations Code*, the Committee will attempt to develop an adjustment plan (see Schedule F). If the provisions of Section 54 of the *Labour Relations Code* are amended, the Agreement will be amended accordingly.
- 5.0.7 The Parties may jointly apply to the associate chair of the Mediation Division of the *Labour Relations Board* to appoint a facilitator to the committee to assist in developing a more cooperative relationship between the Parties.

# 6.0 Grievance and Arbitration Procedure

# 6.1 <u>Grievance Procedure</u>

- 6.1.1 The grievance procedure is designed to deal with the substantive issues of a grievance on a timely basis.
- 6.1.2 Any differences concerning the dismissal, discipline or suspension of an employee or the interpretation, application, or operation of this Agreement, or any alleged violation of this Agreement, or any questions as to whether any matter is arbitrable, will be handled without undue delay, or stoppage of work in the following manner.

# 6.2 Informal Resolution (OPTIONAL)

- 6.2.1 The parties are encouraged to attempt to resolve their concern(s) informally through good faith discussions between the affected employee(s) and/or the Union, and the relevant supervisor or administrator.
- 6.2.2 The employee is encouraged to discuss their concern(s) with a shop steward to determine if a violation of the Collective Agreement exists.
- 6.2.3 The employee will seek resolution to the issue by discussing their concerns with their Administrative Supervisor. The parties will resolve the matter within ten (10) working days. Extensions to the time limits may be made by mutual agreement between the parties.
- 6.2.4 Any resolution reached at the informal stage will be without prejudice and without precedent, unless agreed otherwise between the University and the Union. If the matter cannot be resolved informally, a grievance may be initiated.\_

# 6.3 <u>Step 1</u>

- 6.3.1 If the dispute is not resolved at the Informal Stage, notice in writing will be forwarded to the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources, or designate, by the Union within 15 working days from either:
  - a failure to resolve the grievance at the Informal Stage; or
  - the event giving rise to the grievance; or
  - from the date the grievor became aware of the incident.
- 6.3.2 The grievance will indicate the nature and details of the grievance. The grievance will outline any attempts made to resolve the matter at the Informal Resolution stage. An attempt to settle the difference will be made by the parties.
- 6.3.3 The grievance meeting will occur within ten (10) working days of receipt of the

grievance.

6.3.4 A response will be made in writing within ten (10) working days of the meeting to the grievors, Union Representative and shop steward if involved.

# 6.4 <u>Step 2</u>

- 6.4.1 If the dispute is not resolved at Step 1, the Party responsible for initiating the grievance has ten (10) working days from receiving the decision at Step 1 to advance the grievance. Notice of advancement must be in writing and forwarded to the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources and to the Union.
- 6.4.2 Within ten (10) working days of receiving the request to proceed to Step 2, the President
   + Vice Chancellor or delegate, alone or with any other chosen person, and a Union Representative, along with the grievor and one (1) shop steward, if involved, will meet to attempt to resolve the dispute.
- 6.4.3 The University will provide a written reply to the grievance within ten (10) working days of the Step 2 meeting.

# 6.5 <u>Step 3 - Investigator</u>

- 6.5.1 At the option of either Party Step 3 may be bypassed.
- 6.5.2 Should no settlement have occurred at Step 2 the grievance may be referred to a single "Investigator" within twenty (20) working days from the receipt of the Step 2 response. Notice of referral must be in writing to the University President and the Union.
- 6.5.3 The Investigator will be agreed to by the Parties.
- 6.5.4 The Investigator will:
  - investigate the difference;
  - define the issue in the difference; and
  - make written recommendations to resolve the difference within thirty (30) days of receipt of the request.
- 6.5.5 The time involved in the Investigation step will not be counted with respect to Clause 6.6, Time Limits.
- 6.5.6 Each Party will pay its own expenses and one-half (1/2) the compensation and expenses of the Investigator.
- 6.5.7 The Parties may agree, in advance, that the Investigator's decision will be binding, as in an arbitration. The decision will be made prior to the investigation commencing.
- 6.5.8 If either Party intends to be represented by legal counsel at any hearing or other meeting held by the Investigator, they will provide a minimum of two (2) weeks notice to the other Party.

# 6.6 <u>Step 4 - Arbitration</u>

6.6.1 Should either Party have opted to bypass Step 3 or declined to accept the recommendation of the Investigator then the grieving Party may advance the matter to a single arbitrator for a final and binding decision. Notice of advancement must be in writing to the University President and to the Union within twenty (20) working days of receiving the decision at Step 2 or within twenty (20) working days of

receiving the recommendation from the Investigator.

- 6.6.2 Within ten (10) working days of being notified of the intent of either Party to proceed to arbitration the Parties will attempt to choose a single arbitrator.
- 6.6.3 By mutual agreement, an Arbitration Board may be appointed, consisting of one (1) member appointed by the University, one (1) member appointed by the Union, and a third member who will be the Chairperson will be appointed by the other two (2) appointees.
- 6.6.4 In the event the Parties are unable to agree on a single arbitrator, or the appointees of an Arbitration Board are unable to agree on a Chairperson, either Party may apply to the **Director of the Collective Agreement Arbitration Bureau** to make the appointment.
- 6.6.5 The decision of the arbitrator or Arbitration Board will be final and binding on both Parties. Each Party will pay its own expenses and one-half (1/2) the compensation and expenses of the arbitrator or Chairperson of an Arbitration Board.
- 6.6.6 All reasonable arrangements will be made to permit the conferring Parties or arbitrator(s) to have access to the University premises to view any working conditions which may be relevant to the settlement of a grievance. (See Clauses 4.5.4, 4.5.5 and 4.5.6.)

# 6.7 <u>Time Limits</u>

- 6.7.1 The Party responsible for initiating the grievance will also be responsible for advancing the grievance to each succeeding step, within the specified time limits.
- 6.7.2 If the grievance is not advanced within the specified time limits, the grievance will be considered to be abandoned and all recourse to the grievance procedure will be at an end.
- 6.7.3 If the University fails to respond to a grievance within the specified time limits the grievance will be considered to have succeeded and appropriate actions will be taken to remedy the matter.
- 6.7.4 Extensions to the time limits may be made by agreement of the Parties.

#### 6.8 <u>Reinstatement</u>

An employee who is reinstated by the grievance procedure will be entitled to reinstatement without loss of seniority.

#### 6.9 Alternate Dispute Resolution Methods

Either Party may avail itself of the other options available in the *Labour Relations Code* as alternative methods to resolve any disputes.

Indigenous employees may request an Elder when dealing with their concerns at any stage of the grievance procedure. A request to utilize a Traditional Indigenous Dispute Resolution Model may be submitted to the University President + Vice-Chancellor for consideration at any stage of the grievance procedure.

# 7.0 Job Evaluation and Salary Review

Job evaluation shall be governed by the definitions set out in the Emily Carr University/CUPE Local 15 – VMECW ("The Parties") Gender Neutral Position Evaluation Plan ("The Plan"). Any amendments to the Plan shall be by mutual agreement of the parties.

# 7.1 <u>Terms of Reference</u>

- 7.1.1 Job evaluation analysis will consider:
  - the factors, degrees and definitions contained within the Plan;
  - whether the various factors of the position and its related accrued points fall within the pay level in which it is located;
  - whether or not the duties, responsibilities and other aspects of the position have changed sufficiently to warrant a new or revised level.

# Anomalies

- 7.1.2 For those new or substantially changed positions which, after the job evaluation analysis is completed, are identified as having unique qualifications that the Plan does not sufficiently recognize or acknowledge, the parties will consider the creation of an anomaly.
- 7.1.3 In such exceptional circumstances of an anomaly, a salary review will be conducted by Human Resources. Initial comparisons are limited to comparable positions based on job descriptions and rates of pay within the University and similar jobs and corresponding rates of pay at BCIT, Capilano University, Kwantlen Polytechnic University, Douglas College, Vancouver Community College and Langara College.
- 7.1.4 Where, after seeking the comparisons listed in Clause 7.1.3, there are not three (3) valid ones, comparisons will be solicited from other Colleges and Institutes in BC.
- 7.1.5 Where, after seeking the comparisons listed in Clause 7.1.4, there are not three (3) valid ones, comparisons will be solicited from other places that have comparable work.
- 7.1.6 Job descriptions and rates of pay of the relied upon comparators and any other correspondence or documents related to the review, will be shared between the parties upon request. Market placement percentile reflects Emily Carr University's overall salary scale in relation to other relevant institutions as identified in Articles 7.1.3 and 7.1.4. The rate of pay assigned to the anomalous position will be constrained by this market placement percentile and the current pay scale (Schedule B).
- 7.1.7 Such anomalies shall not become grounds for appeal for other positions or position categories.

# 7.2 <u>Review Procedure</u>

7.2.1 Requests for a job evaluation review may originate with the Union, the University or an employee. The request must be in writing and submitted to the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources. The request must detail the rationale for the job evaluation review and address the terms of reference. Copies of all requests for job reviews and/or extensions, shall be provided to the Union.

Within five (5) working days of an employee or the Union submitting a written request

for a job evaluation review, the University will provide the employee with a job evaluation description questionnaire to complete, as well as the most recent completed job evaluation questionnaire, subject to FOIPPA considerations.

The completed questionnaire must be returned to the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources within twenty (20) working days of receiving the questionnaire. An extension of up to ten (10) working days may be requested and will not be unreasonably denied. An additional extension, of a fixed duration may be granted by mutual agreement of the parties. Should an extension not be requested and/or if the questionnaire is not submitted by the extension deadline, the review will be considered to be withdrawn.

- 7.2.2 The University shall conduct a review of the position using the terms of reference contained in Clause 7.1. All requests for a position evaluation shall be dealt with and the employee and the Union shall be provided with the review results in writing within two (2) months from the date of receipt of the questionnaire. The notification shall contain all applicable data used in applying the Plan. An extension of up to twenty (20) working days may be requested and will not be unreasonably denied.
- 7.2.3 Except by mutual agreement of the Union and the University or where a significant change in duties or responsibilities can be demonstrated, a request for job evaluation review from any source may be rejected by either Party if less than two (2) years has elapsed since the resolution of the last evaluation review. Should the Parties fail to agree on the status of any request the matter may be referred to the adjudicator with job evaluation expertise for a decision as provided in Clause 7.3 and 7.4.

# 7.3 <u>Appeal Process – Job Evaluation Review</u>

- 7.3.1 Within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving the results of the position review, the Union may request a re-examination of the review. The request shall include the reasons for re-examination, including rating factors in dispute.
- 7.3.2 Within fifteen (15) working days, up to three (3) Union representatives (including the Staff Representative or designate) with expertise in job evaluation will meet with the University Representative who has evaluated the position and the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources for reconsideration of all relevant information. Additional participants from either side may attend by mutual agreement. In that event, the payback system will apply for any additional employee representatives in attendance.
- 7.3.3 Following this step, the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources will convey a written decision on the matter to the Union within twenty (20) working days of the meeting. An extension of up to twenty (20) working days may be requested and will not be unreasonably denied.

# **Adjudication**

- 7.3.4 In the event the Union is dissatisfied with the decision rendered above, the matter may be referred, within fifteen (15) working days of the receipt of said decision, to an adjudicator with job evaluation expertise of mutual agreement for final and binding determination.
- 7.3.5 The adjudicator shall proceed as soon as practical to resolve the matter. The adjudicator will be governed by the terms of reference as outlined in Article 7.1. They shall be supplied with all relevant documentation, including existing evaluation results and job descriptions.

- 7.3.6 Each party will provide a written submission to the Adjudicator two (2) weeks in advance of the scheduled adjudication. The submission will identify factors in dispute and present arguments in favour of the position advocated.
- 7.3.7 It is the intention of the parties that the adjudication meeting will take no more than one (1) day, with up to three (3) persons attending as Union representatives (including the Staff Representative or designate) and up to three (3) persons attending as the Employer Representatives. The payback system will apply for any additional employee representatives. Additional participants from either side may attend by mutual agreement. In that event, the payback system will apply for any additional employee representatives in attendance.
- 7.3.8 The adjudicator's compensation and costs will be shared equally by the University and the Union.
- 7.3.9 The Union shall be responsible for advancing the matter to each succeeding step of the procedure and shall do so by notifying the University in writing within the time limits prescribed. If such notice is not given, the matter shall be deemed to be abandoned and all future resource under this collective agreement shall be at an end.
- 7.3.10 The time constraints in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement. Such extensions will not be unreasonably denied, with the understanding that both parties are committed to a timely resolution.

# 7.4 <u>Appeal Process – Anomalous Positions</u>

- 7.4.1 Should the parties fail to agree on a rate of pay for an anomalous position, the matter shall, within fifteen (15) working days, be discussed between the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources and up to three (3) Union representatives (including the Staff Representative or designate) with expertise in job evaluation. Additional participants from either side may attend by mutual agreement. In that event, the payback system will apply for any additional employee representatives in attendance.
- 7.4.2 If agreement is not achieved in 7.4.1, then the matter of rates may be referred, within thirty (30) working days to an external adjudicator with job evaluation expertise agreed by the parties, for final and binding determination.

# 7.5 Adjustments to Salary

- 7.5.1 If as a result of a job evaluation or salary review any change is to be made, the change will be effective the first day of the pay period closest to the date of receipt of the request by the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources, or such date as may be appropriate, subject to the provisions of Clause 7.5.5.
- 7.5.2 Upon job re-evaluation or salary review, employees will be placed on the scale according to their length of service with the University and without change to their increment date.
- 7.5.3 When the University finds a change is required, any adjustment including any retroactive payment will be put into effect as soon as possible, subject to Clause 7.5.5. This will not prejudice the Union's right to appeal.
- 7.5.4 If a position is evaluated and has the salary revised downwards, each incumbent may elect one (1) of the following methods of treatment:

• to have the rate of pay immediately reduced to the new level and receive a lump sum payment at the earliest opportunity of twenty-four (24) times the monthly difference between the old and new rates;

OR

- to have the former salary continued. The incumbent will continue to receive all general increases and increments. The University may unilaterally promote an incumbent who elects this treatment to any vacant position that is valued at the former pay rate and for which the incumbent is qualified. The University must do this within two (2) years of the date of the change in rate.
- 7.5.5 Any changes in a wage rate of a position as a result of a salary review and/or appeal that affect more than five percent (5%) of employees within the bargaining unit, shall be effective the first day of the next contract year.

# 7.6 <u>New Positions</u>

- 7.6.1 The University will notify the Union of the creation of a new position prior to posting it, if possible. If this is not possible, the University will notify the Union at the same time the new position is posted.
- 7.6.2 The Union may request a job evaluation or salary review for the new position. If a review is requested, the University will commence the review six (6) months after the position is filled.
- 7.6.3 Any increase resulting from the job evaluation or salary review will be retroactive to the date the position was filled, subject to the provisions of Clause 7.5.5.

# 7.7 Excluded Positions

The University will provide the Union with all postings of new permanent positions considered managerial exclusions. The Parties may meet to review the responsibilities of the position.

# 8.0 Working Conditions

# 8.1 Days and Hours of Work

- 8.1.1 Employees will work a five (5) day week, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement.
- 8.1.2 The normal hours of work for employees covered by this Agreement will be seven (7) hours per day.
- 8.1.3 The University will give a minimum of ten (10) days notice of a change in shift unless the change results in an employee working hours that entitle the employee to an overtime wage. All changes of shift will be discussed with the employee prior to the giving of notice. If the proposed shift change would result in hardship for the employee concerned, the University will attempt to accommodate the employee's needs through transfer or other mutually agreeable means.
- 8.1.4 Employees who work more than six (6) hours a day will be entitled to an unpaid meal break of not less than thirty (30) minutes and not more than one (1) hour. Employees who work from five (5) to six (6) hours a day will have the option of taking an unpaid

meal break. Employees who work less than five (5) hours a day will not be entitled to a meal break.

- 8.1.5 Employees who work more than six (6) hours a day will be entitled to two (2) paid fifteen (15) minute rest periods, one (1) during the work period prior to the meal break and one (1) during the work period after the meal break. Employees who work six (6) hours a day or less will be entitled to one (1) paid fifteen (15) minute rest period.
- 8.1.6 The times when the meal break and rest periods are taken will be approved by the supervisor.
- 8.1.7 The length of time between the starting and quitting times in a normal working day will not exceed eight (8) hours.
- 8.1.8 When employees attend a required work-related meeting during their normal meal break they will reschedule their break on that day with the time subject to the approval of their supervisor.
- 8.1.9 An employee, reporting for work at the call of the University, shall be entitled to their regular wage for the entire period spent at the place of work, with a minimum of four (4) hours pay for each call-out, unless the employee is unfit to perform their duties or has failed to comply with the Occupational Health and Safety Regulations to the Workers' Compensation Board. Where an employee is working overtime, Clause 8.5.6 applies.

# 8.2 <u>Flex Time</u>

- 8.2.1 The flex time plan contained in Clause 8.2 applies to permanent and probationary employees only. Term employees, including temporary employees in a term assignment, and part-time employees may not participate in the flex time plan.
- 8.2.2 Temporary employees may participate in the flex time plan as provided for in Clause 2.4.13.
- 8.2.3 Participating employees will work fifteen (15) minutes more per day between approximately 1 September and 30 April by increasing the work day to seven and one quarter (7-1/4) hours by:
  - leaving work fifteen (15) minutes later; or
  - commencing work fifteen (15) minutes earlier; or
  - shortening the lunch period by fifteen (15) minutes.
- 8.2.4 The method of working the extra time will be determined by the University on a departmental basis, taking into account the needs of the department and the desires of the employees in the department.
- 8.2.5 Participating employees will receive twenty-one (21) paid hours off between approximately 15 June and 15 August, by decreasing the work day to six and one-half (6-1/2) hours per day by leaving one-half (1/2) hour earlier per day.
- 8.2.6 For the periods not covered by Clauses 8.2.3 and 8.2.5, participating employees will work a seven (7) hour day. This covers the period from approximately 1 May to 14 June and approximately 16 August to 31 August.
- 8.2.7 Prior to the beginning of each year, the University and the Union will establish the precise dates for flex time schedules, based on the principles contained in Clauses 8.2.3, 8.2.5 and 8.2.6.

- 8.2.8 Flex time will not accumulate during general holidays or the **Winter** break.
- 8.2.9 Participating employees will receive twenty-one (21) paid hours off per year in addition to the time provided for in Clause 8.2.5. This time will be used in the year in which it is earned. Employees are encouraged to take this time off prior to the use of vacation entitlement for the year.
- 8.2.10 Participating employees who leave part way through the year will have adjustments made to their final cheques to reflect whether they have received time off which has not been earned or have earned time which has not been taken.

# 8.3 Experimental Work Schedules

- 8.3.1 Terms and conditions of this Agreement may be varied by mutual agreement of the University and the Union in order to implement work schedules that are modifications of the work schedules set forth in this Agreement. Examples may include:
  - job sharing
  - compressed work week
  - nine-day fortnight
  - variable schedules for part-time employees
  - temporary reduction in hours
- 8.3.2 Mutual agreement is required prior to the commencement of any proposed experimental work schedule. Either party (including the employee(s)) may terminate an experimental work schedule with a minimum of thirty (30) days written notice. Experimental work schedules shall not be unreasonably denied by the employer.
- 8.3.3 Job shares and temporary reductions in hours shall be administered in accordance with Article 2.7.5
- 8.3.4 Upon termination of an experimental schedule, the employee will return to their full and entire position and hours of work.
- 8.3.5 In the case of a temporary reduction in hours, the University will ensure that the remaining hours are allocated to maintain the position assignment or consider alternate allocations in consultation with the Union.
- 8.3.6 Casual employees who accept work replacing an employee on an experimental work schedule whose regularly scheduled hours of work exceed seven (7) hours will work up to 8.75 hours of the regularly scheduled work without overtime.

# 8.4 <u>Second Shifts</u>

If the University determines that a second shift is necessary in departments with more than one employee performing the same work, employees will be offered the choice of continuing their current shift in order of seniority. Where the University is adjusting to an alternate shift for departments with one employee, Clause 8.1.3 will apply.

# 8.5 <u>Overtime</u>

8.5.1 An employee has the right to refuse to work overtime other than in exceptional and/or emergency circumstances. Where the employee has a pre-existing commitment that

cannot be altered, the employer will make every reasonable effort to implement alternate work arrangements to accommodate the overtime assignment.

- 8.5.2 All overtime must be pre-authorized by the **administrative supervisor. The administrative supervisor may grant overtime at their discretion.** When overtime is in response to dealing with an unanticipated emergency, authorization must be provided within seven (7) calendar days of the overtime hours being worked.
- 8.5.3 Employees on monthly salaries will not be paid for the first fifteen (15) minutes. If they are authorized to work more than fifteen (15) minutes of overtime in any one day, they will be paid for the total amount of overtime or receive compensating time off in accordance with Clauses 8.5.6 and 8.5.9.
- 8.5.4 Employees who do not receive overtime compensation for the first fifteen (15) minutes worked immediately following their normal working day, as provided for in Clause 8.5.3, will have a work day within the following ten (10) working days reduced by the amount of time equal to that worked.
- 8.5.5 Employees who have agreed to work overtime will, at the time of working the overtime, elect whether to be paid for it or to receive compensating time off.
- 8.5.6 Subject to Clauses 8.5.7 and 8.5.8, employees will be paid one and one-half (1-1/2) times their regular hourly rate for the first two (2) hours of overtime worked in a week in excess of full-time hours and two (2) times their regular hourly rate for all other overtime hours worked.
- 8.5.7 Employees who work in excess of five (5) days in a week will be paid two (2) times their regular hourly rate for all overtime hours worked with a minimum of two (2) hours pay at two (2) times their regular hourly rate.
- 8.5.8 Employees who are called at home and requested to return to work overtime will be paid two (2) times their regular hourly rate for all overtime hours worked with a minimum of two (2) hours pay at two (2) times their regular hourly rate.
- 8.5.9 Employees who elect to receive compensating time off for overtime will be given compensating time off equivalent to the number of hours for which they would have been paid as provided in Clauses 8.5.6, 8.5.7 and 8.5.8.
- 8.5.10 Compensating time off will be taken at a time mutually agreed upon between the employees and their Department Heads.
- 8.5.11 If employees do not receive all of their compensating time off by 31 August of the year following the year in which they earned it, or prior to leaving the University, whichever occurs first, they will be paid for the balance of the overtime.

# 8.6 Excess Workload

- **8.6.1** When an employee is absent, another employee may be required to carry out some of the duties of the absent employee. In this event, priorities will be established by the employee and supervisor to accommodate the work to be performed. This clause is not intended to supersede Clause 9.3, Substitution.
- **8.6.2** Employees who have concerns about workload may consult with their immediate supervisors to review priorities and explore other strategies to resolve the workload problem.

- **8.6.3** If the concern is not resolved, the employees or the employees' shop steward may refer the matter to the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources, the Vice President Academic and Provost or the Vice President Finance and Administration who will investigate the matter and recommend solutions.
- **8.6.4** The University is committed to providing employees with a humane and supportive workplace. Issues surrounding workload will be dealt with by the University in this spirit.

# 9.0 Wages and Premiums

#### 9.1 <u>Salary Schedule</u>

- 9.1.1 The salary schedule in Schedule B will apply during the term of this Agreement.
- 9.1.2 The salary schedule is based on a thirty-five (35) hour week with hours of work conducted between 8am and 7pm.
- 9.1.3 When new employees are hired, they will normally be placed at step 1 of the salary scale. However, this does not preclude placement on a higher step in exceptional circumstances. Furthermore, this Clause 9.1.3 does not apply to former employees of the University who are rehired within twelve (12) months of termination of service (see Clause 17.4 Rehiring).

#### 9.2 <u>Increments</u>

- 9.2.1 Permanent employees will receive an increment increase at the beginning of the pay period coincident with or next following the successful completion of the probationary period.
- 9.2.2 Permanent employees will receive additional increment increases on completion of each additional year of service until they reach the top step.
- 9.2.3 Temporary employees will receive increments as provided for in Clauses 2.4.14, 2.4.15 and 2.4.17.
- 9.2.4 Casual employees will receive increments as provided for in Clauses 2.5.3, 2.5.4 and 2.5.5.
- 9.2.5 For term employees each duty year will equal one (1) year of service.
- 9.2.6 Upon reclassification or salary review, employees will be placed on the scale according to their length of service with the University and without change to their increment date.
- 9.2.7 Upon promotions through competition, employees will be placed on the scale according to their length of service with the University and without change to their increment date.
- 9.2.8 If employees have been absent on leave without pay (Clause 11.8) for more than one (1) month, their increment dates will be delayed one (1) month for each month or portion of a month absent in excess of one (1) month.

# 9.3 <u>Substitution</u>

9.3.1 When an employee is authorized in writing by the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources to temporarily replace another employee in a superior position for a period

of one (1) or more consecutive working days, the employee will be paid the minimum rate for the superior position for the total period. If the employee's regular rate of pay is higher than the minimum rate for the superior position, the employee will be paid at a rate of pay equivalent to two (2) steps higher than the employee's regular rate of pay. Under no circumstances will an employee be paid a higher rate than the maximum rate for the superior position.

- 9.3.2 Should an employee be assigned to perform some of the duties of a superior position but not all of the significant duties and responsibilities, the employee will be paid at a rate that is appropriate for the duties and responsibilities assigned with a minimum of the equivalent of two (2) steps higher than the employee's regular rate of pay.
- 9.3.3 Should the substitution be for a period in excess of three months the position will be posted in accordance with Clause 17.1.1.
- 9.3.4 When an employee is required to replace an incumbent of a superior position outside of the bargaining unit, the employee will be paid an additional minimum amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the employee's normal rate of pay, subject to the qualifications in Clause 9.3.1. All the terms and provisions of this Agreement will continue during replacement periods.
- 9.3.5 Should employees acting in superior positions without interruption be appointed to the positions, they will be paid at the step on the pay scale that they would have attained if the positions were theirs from the date of substitution.

# 9.4 Pay Dates

- 9.4.1 Employees will be paid twice monthly, on the 15th and last day of the month, provided that each employee's pay advice will be received and dated prior to their last working day in the pay period.
- 9.4.2 The last pay advice in December will be provided and dated on the last University business day before Christmas.

# 9.5 <u>Workshop Presentations</u>

Employees will receive additional pay for reasonable preparation time and for presentation of workshops in their areas of expertise at the rate paid to Studio Technicians for "original technical instruction".

# 9.6 <u>Recovery of Overpayments</u>

- **9.6.1** It is the intention of the University to recover overpaid wages occurring due to clerical error using the procedure contained in this Clause **9.6**.
- **9.6.2** When an obvious overpayment has occurred, it may be corrected within one (1) month of its occurrence, without need for consultation with the affected employee or the Union.
- **9.6.3** If an overpayment occurred which was not corrected within one (1) month of its occurrence, the University will notify the affected employee and the Union in writing, specifying:
  - the amount of overpayment claimed;
  - a general description of the situation which gave rise to the claimed overpayment;

- a detailed calculation of the claimed overpayment;
- the intended schedule of recovery; and
- the employee's right to consult with the Union regarding this matter.
- **9.6.4** Should the employee or the Union dispute either the intended recovery or the calculation provided, the matter will be discussed informally with the Associate Vice- President, Human Resources and an effort made to reconcile the calculation and to accommodate the employee regarding the schedule of recovery. If alternate arrangements are agreed, they will be confirmed in writing to all concerned.
- **9.6.5** If agreement cannot be reached informally, the matter will be dealt with through the grievance procedure commencing at Step 2. Recovery will not proceed until the grievance is resolved.
- **9.6.6** If the employee leaves the employment of the University before recovery is accomplished, complete recovery will form part of the normal end-of-employment reconciliation practices.
- **9.6.7** This Clause **9.6** does not apply to normal reconciliation at the end of employment for vacation, gratuity leave and other entitlements where reconciliation is clearly specified in the Agreement, or to garnishees or other court-ordered claims initiated by a third party.

# **10.0** Employee Benefits

# 10.1 <u>Annual Vacation</u>

10.1.1 Vacation is granted for service during the calendar year from 1 January to 31 December. It is to be taken within the calendar year in which it is earned, subject to the carry over provisions in Clauses 10.1.6 and 10.1.7, at a time to be arranged with the Manager or designate. The entitlement of employees, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, is as follows:

Less than 1 year's service	112 working hours, pro-rated
1-5 year's service	147 working hours
6 year's service	154 working hours
7 year's service	161 working hours
8 year's service	168 working hours
9 year's service	175 working hours
10 year's service	182 working hours
11 year's service	189 working hours
12 year's service	196 working hours
13 year's service	203 working hours
14 year's service	210 working hours
15 year's service and over	217 working hours maximum

- 10.1.2 Vacation entitlement for temporary employees is contained in Clauses 2.4.17 and 2.4.18. Vacation entitlement for casual employees is contained in Clauses 2.5.6. Vacation entitlement for Term employees is contained in Clauses 2.8.12 and 2.8.13.
- 10.1.3 When employees take vacation, their vacation entitlement will be reduced by the number of hours they would have worked. For example, if employees who are participating in the flex time plan (Clause 8.2) take vacation when they would have been working seven and one-quarter (7-1/4) hours, they will have seven and one-quarter (7-1/4) hours deducted from their vacation entitlement for each day of vacation taken.

- 10.1.4 Studio, Computer and Audio Visual Technicians, who directly support curriculum will not normally schedule more than seventy (70) hours vacation when classes are in session between 1 September and 30 April.
- 10.1.5 Employees are encouraged to preschedule vacation as far in advance as possible. Seniority will be the determining factor in determining vacation scheduling, provided requests are submitted prior to 1 March. Following 1 March, vacation requests will be determined on the basis of date of receipt. Once a vacation request is submitted, Managers are obliged to confirm requested time off within ten (10) working days. Provided it can be reasonably accommodated an employee is entitled to schedule their entire annual vacation time in one block.
- 10.1.6 Employees with ten (10) years' service or less may carry over up to thirty-five (35) hours of vacation each year. Employees with more than ten (10) years' service may carry over up to seventy (70) hours of vacation each year. The maximum accumulated carry over of vacation will be one hundred forty (140) hours.
- 10.1.7 Employees wishing to carry over vacation will notify the University by 1 November of each year. Employees may also carry over vacation that cannot be taken due to circumstances beyond their control. Vacation carried over may be used in any future year at a time to be approved by the University President or designate. Effective January 2024, any banked time will be recorded as separate from annual vacation entitlement.
- 10.1.8 When employees are hired, on a leave of absence without pay or leave the employ of the University, their vacation entitlement will be pro-rated based on the percentage of annual hours they have worked, except where other provisions of this Agreement provide for different treatment.

# 10.2 <u>Winter Break</u>

- 10.2.1 Employees will receive five (5) days off with pay during the **Winter Break** period in addition to general holidays. Term and part-time employees will receive this time prorated according to the percentage of full-time weekly hours they regularly work.
- 10.2.2 Employees in their first calendar year of employment will have the **Winter B**reak time pro-rated by straight time earned in the calendar year divided by 1785.
- 10.2.3 Temporary employees will be entitled to the **Winter B**reak as provided for in Clause 2.4.19.
- 10.2.4 Casual employees are not entitled to be paid for the **Winter B**reak.
- 10.2.5 Employees on unpaid leaves of absence will not be paid for the **Winter B**reak.
- 10.2.6 The days of the **Winter B**reak will be determined by mutual agreement of the University and the Union based on the calendar days for Christmas and New Year.
- 10.2.7 Alternate days off, at straight time, will be granted to employees whose presence is necessary for the operation of the University during the **Winter B**reak. Employees will be notified at least one (1) month in advance if they are required to work.

#### 10.3 <u>General Holidays</u>

10.3.1 Employees will be paid at their regular rate of pay for the following general holidays:

New Year's Day	Labour Day
Family Day	Day for Truth and Reconciliation
Good Friday	Thanksgiving Day
Easter Monday	Remembrance Day
Victoria Day	Christmas Day
Canada Day	Boxing Day
BC Day	

and any other day declared by Federal or Provincial Legislation.

- 10.3.2 When a general holiday occurs on a Saturday or Sunday, the following Monday will be observed as the holiday. When Christmas and Boxing Day fall on a Saturday and Sunday respectively, the preceding Friday and the following Monday will be observed as the holidays. When Christmas falls on a Sunday, the preceding Friday will be observed as the holiday.
- 10.3.3 Temporary employees will be paid for all general holidays that fall within their assignments.
- 10.3.4 Casual employees will be paid **five** and **two**-tenths percent (**5.2**%) of gross pay in lieu of paid general holidays.
- 10.3.5 Part-time employees are entitled to general holidays as provided for in Clause 2.7.5
- 10.3.6 Term employees are entitled to general holidays as provided for in Clauses 2.8.7 and 2.8.8.
- 10.3.7 Employees authorized to work on a general holiday will have the option of being paid at double time or of receiving the equivalent compensating time off, in addition to regular pay.

#### 10.4 Permanent Part-time Benefit Coverage

Permanent Part-time Employees regularly working less than forty percent (40%) of fulltime are not eligible for benefit coverage in accordance with Clause 2.7.5.

#### 10.5 <u>Sick Leave</u>

- 10.5.1 Eligible permanent employees will be paid one hundred percent (100%) of salary for the first three (3) months of any illness, injury or disability.
- 10.5.2 Eligible probationary employees will be entitled to five (5) days of paid sick leave upon completion of ninety (90) consecutive calendar days of service. Sick days taken before the completion of the probationary period shall be paid for the hours an employee is scheduled to work and will be calculated per the *Employment Standards Act*. If these employees do not complete the probationary period, they will repay the University for any paid sick leave used by deduction from their final pay.
- 10.5.3 Sick leave provisions for temporary employees are contained in Clauses 2.4.21, 2.4.22, 2.4.23 and 2.4.24.

- 10.5.4 Casual employees are not entitled to paid sick leave.
- 10.5.5 Any employees absent because of illness may be required to produce a certificate or recognized equivalent from a duly qualified medical practitioner, licensed to practice in the Province of British Columbia, certifying that they are unable to carry out their duties due to illness. Any costs for the certificate will be paid by the University.
- 10.5.6 In cases of proven illness during vacation periods, employees may apply for sick leave and reschedule their vacations.
- 10.5.7 When employees have been paid sick leave and later recover some or all of this from a third party insurance plan, the amount recovered will be paid to the University by the employee or directly by the third party insurance plan.
- 10.5.8 Pay for time lost due to compulsory quarantine will be paid to permanent employees without deductions from sick leave. Such quarantine must be certified by the Medical Health Officer.
- 10.5.9 Employees shall make every effort to schedule medical appointments outside of working hours. Employees who are unable to schedule medical appointments outside of working hours may request paid time off to attend the appointments. Such requests will not be unreasonably denied.

# 10.6 <u>Municipal Pension Plan</u>

Except as provided elsewhere in this Agreement, all employees will participate in the *Municipal Pension Plan* according to the terms and conditions contained in the *Municipal Pension Plan*. The University contribution will be paid only when the employee is in receipt of pay or when the Act or other provisions of this Agreement require it. Details are outlined on Pensions BC website.

# 10.7 <u>Deferred Savings Plan</u>

- 10.7.1 Deferred Savings entitlement is available to eligible permanent employees, six (6) months following completion of their probation period, pursuant to Clause 2.3.1.
- 10.7.2 The University will contribute an amount equal to two **and one-half** percent  $(2 \frac{1}{2}\%)$  of the salaries of eligible permanent employees who elect to participate and the employees will contribute one and one half percent  $(1\frac{1}{2}\%)$ . Temporary employees who have completed one (1) year of continuous service have the option of participating in the plan as provided for in Clause 2.4.12.
- 10.7.3 In accordance with the Plan Rules, contributions made by the employer and eligible employees shall be deposited into the Vancouver Employers Savings Plan for the benefit of the employees, and can be withdrawn according to the plan.

#### 10.8 <u>Health Insurance</u>

- 10.8.1 The University will pay the full cost of the Employer Health Tax and the full cost of premiums for an extended health benefits plan for all probationary and eligible permanent employees **up to seventy-five (75) years of age**. Participation is mandatory unless the employee can demonstrate coverage from another source.
- 10.8.2 Employees are eligible on the first of the month coincident with or immediately following their date of employment.

- 10.8.3 Temporary employees who have completed one (1) year of continuous service have the option of participating in the plans as provided for in Clause 2.4.12.
- 10.8.4 The extended health benefits plan will include optical care insurance in accordance with the terms of contract with the insuring company, including **\$650** of eyeglass coverage **for every two years**. Employees become eligible for optical care insurance upon completion of six (6) months service.

As of June 1, 2020, eyeglass coverage increased to \$650 every two years.

- 10.8.5 The University will continue to pay its contribution while employees are on approved leave of absence with pay. For the full period of any other absence, employees may pay the full premium through the University if they desire to continue coverage, except where other provisions of this Agreement provide for different treatment.
- 10.8.6 Eye Exam

Permanent employees will be entitled to be reimbursed a total of **one hundred dollars (\$100)** every two years for **eye** exams.

Effective October 1, 2023, eye exam coverage will increase to one hundred and twenty five dollars (\$125) every two years.

#### 10.9 Employee and Family Assistance Plan

- 10.9.1 The University will provide an Employee and Family Assistance Plan (EFAP).
- 10.9.2 The University will pay for the EFAP except that the employees' share of the Employment Insurance rebate will be used to help subsidize the cost of the plan.
- 10.9.3 There will be an ECU Benefits Committee to review the implementation, operation and effectiveness of the plan. The University and the Union will each appoint up to three (3) representatives to the committee.

# 10.10 Group Life Insurance

- 10.10.1 All eligible permanent employees will participate in the group life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment plans.
- 10.10.2 Employees are eligible on the first of the month coincident with or immediately following the completion of the probationary period.
- 10.10.3 Temporary employees who have completed one (1) year of continuous service have the option of participating in the plans as provided for in Clause 2.4.12.
- 10.10.4 Insurance coverage is provided according to the terms of the contract with the insuring company. The group life plan will provide three (3) times annual salary to the next higher \$1,000.
- 10.10.5 The University will pay the entire premium cost of the insurance.
- 10.10.6 Employees who retire at or beyond the age of fifty-five (55) years and who are in receipt of a pension under the provisions of the *Municipal Pension Plan* will continue to enjoy group insurance coverage in an amount equal to the lesser of \$10,000 or the coverage

in effect immediately preceding retirement for a period of five (5) years from the date of retirement with the premium cost paid by the University.

# 10.11 Long Term Disability

- 10.11.1 All eligible permanent employees will participate in the long term disability plan.
- 10.11.2 Benefits are paid according to the terms of the contract with the insuring company on the following general basis (recognizing that the contract terms are subject to change):
  - amount of benefit seventy percent (70%) of gross salary;
  - duration of benefit until retirement or as otherwise provided;
  - benefit effective following ninety (90) calendar days continuous absence due to sickness or injury.

When an employee has been approved for a part-time and/or graduated return to work by the LTD carrier and the University, the employee will be paid at the hourly rate for the position for the hours worked. Subject to the terms of the LTD plan, the LTD carrier may continue to provide partial benefits for the period of a graduated return to work.

- 10.11.3 The premium cost will be paid by the employees by payroll deduction. Should there be any proposed increase to the LTD premiums the Parties will meet to review the proposed increase for the purpose of assessing whether the plan should go to market.
- 10.11.4 Current Income Tax Regulations state that benefits received by employees from the long term disability plan are not taxable.
- 10.11.5 Long term disability benefits will be arranged by the University as provided for in Clause 10.11.2 or as the Union may determine from time to time.
- 10.11.6 An ECU Benefits Committee will periodically review the plan. The Committee will be made up of two (2) representatives each from the Union, the Faculty Association and excluded staff.
- 10.11.7 The Union will be consulted when the University markets the long term disability plan and no changes will be made unless the ECU Benefits Committee agrees. Any plan changes must be ratified by the CUPE membership before implementation.
- 10.11.8 Employees receiving long term disability benefits will continue to be covered by the Medical Services Plan and Extended Health (Clause 10.8) and dental plan (Clause **10**.13), with the University continuing to pay its contribution of premium costs, as per Clauses 10.8 and 10.13.5. Premiums for group life insurance (Clause 10.10) are waived by the insurance carrier while employees are on long term disability. Coverage for Pension Plan (Clause 10.6) will be as provided in the *Municipal Pension Plan*.
- 10.11.9 Subject to Clause 10.11.10, employees on long term disability will keep their status as employees with the right to return to their previous positions. If their previous positions no longer exist, they may exercise their bumping rights contained in Clauses 13.1.3, 13.1.4, 13.1.5 and 13.1.6 (Layoff). If no positions are available, they may elect severance pay as contained in Clause 13.3.
- 10.11.10 When employees have been absent for the same disability for a total of twenty-seven (27) months, including paid sick leave, and it is unlikely that they will be able to return to work in the next three (3) months, the University may terminate the employees. Termination under this clause will be considered non-culpable.

- 10.11.11 Employees who have been terminated as provided for in Clause 10.11.10 will retain status as internal applicants with accumulated seniority for vacancies (see Clause 17.0, Notification and Filling of Vacancies) for a period of thirty-six (36) months from the date of termination.
- 10.11.12 Employees who are rehired within thirty-six (36) months will be credited with past service as outlined in Clause 17 (Rehiring) and will serve a trial period as provided for in Clause 17.3 (Promotion or Transfer). Employees who do not successfully complete the trial period will retain their rights under Clause 10.11.11.
- 10.11.13 The University may fill on a permanent basis the positions of employees absent on long term disability prior to twenty-seven (27) months absence, including paid sick leave, where the medical opinion is that it is unlikely the employees will be able to return to work within the twenty-seven (27) month period.
- 10.11.14 The University and the Union are committed to working with the employee to facilitate an effective return to work plan for the employee and both acknowledge the duty of reasonable accommodation to employees with disabilities, including seeking the assistance of experts to provide an assessment of skills and abilities from an occupational perspective. The University and the Union, in doing so, need not expose itself to undue hardship.

# 10.12 Gratuity Plan

- 10.12.1 Gratuity credits are based on the calendar year. For the purposes of accumulating gratuity credits, the year will be divided into four (4) distinct periods:
  - 1 January to 31 March
  - 1 April to 30 June
  - 1 July to 30 September
  - 1 October to 31 December

All dates are inclusive.

- 10.12.2 For each period described in Clause 10.12.1, employees will be given the following credits:
  - One (1) day for no absence through illness.
  - One-half (1/2) day for one-half (1/2) day absence through illness.
  - No (0) days for one (1) or more days of absence through illness.

"Illness" will mean non-occupational sickness or injury.

- 10.12.3 Gratuity credits may be accumulated to a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) days.
- 10.12.4 Part-time employees will accumulate gratuity credits for full quarters worked, pro-rated according to the percentage of full-time weekly hours they work, subject to Clause 2.7.5.
- 10.12.5 Term employees will accumulate gratuity credits in accordance with Clause 2.8.9.
- 10.12.6 Temporary employees who have completed one (1) year of continuous service have the option of participating in the gratuity plan as provided for in Clause 2.4.12.

- 10.12.7 Temporary employees with less than one (1) year of continuous service and casual employees are not eligible for the gratuity plan.
- 10.12.8 Gratuity credits earned prior to 1 April 1993, may be taken as pay:
  - on retirement on or after reaching minimum retirement age; or
  - on retirement with permanent disability; or
  - on receipt of long term disability benefits; or
  - on leaving the University's employ;

or as paid leave, subject to Clause 10.12.10.

- 10.12.9 Gratuity credits earned after 1 April 1993, may be taken as pay or as paid leave, subject to Clause 10.12.10, at the employee's option.
- 10.12.10 If employees use gratuity credits as paid leave, the minimum leave taken will be onehalf (1/2) day and the maximum twenty (20) days at any time. Gratuity leaves will be subject to the approval of the University President or designate and will be taken during a period that will not adversely affect the operation of the department.

# 10.13 Dental Plan

- 10.13.1 A dental plan for all eligible permanent employees **up to seventy-five (75) years of age** will be provided on the following basis:
  - basic dental services (Plan A) paying for one hundred percent (100%) of the approved schedule of fees;
  - prosthetics, crowns and bridges (Plan B) paying for seventy-five percent (75%) of the approved schedule of fees;
  - orthodontics (Plan C) paying for fifty percent (50%) of the approved schedule of fees.
- 10.13.2 Employees are eligible on the first of the month coincident with or immediately following the completion of the probationary period.
- 10.13.3 Temporary employees who have completed one (1) year of continuous service have the option of participating in the dental plan as provided for in Clause 2.4.12.
- 10.13.4 Probationary and casual employees are not eligible for the dental plan.
- 10.13.5 The premiums for the dental plan will be paid totally by the University, except for permanent part-time employees working less than forty percent (40%) of full-time, as stipulated in Clause 2.7.5 and Clause 10.4.

# 10.14 <u>Retirement</u>

- 10.14.1 Employees typically retire by age sixty-five (65). Employees who work beyond age sixtyfive (65) will be covered by all the terms and conditions of this Agreement except where prohibited by legislation or benefit plan insurance contracts. In any case, employees will provide one year's notice of anticipated retirement date.
- 10.14.2 Employees who retire from the University under the provisions of the *Municipal Pension Plan* will receive their full annual vacation entitlement for the year of retirement.

# 10.15 <u>Early Retirement</u>

- 10.15.1 The University recognizes the mutual benefits of an Early Retirement Plan for employees and agrees to make such opportunities available to qualified employees at its sole discretion within the parameters of specific funding allocations.
- 10.15.2 Eligible employees may apply in writing to the President to participate in the Early Retirement Plan. Application must be made at least one year before the retirement date. Employees are eligible if they meet the following qualifications:
  - are over fifty-five (55) years of age;
  - have at least ten (10) years of pensionable service under the Municipal Pension Plan;
  - are a permanent regular employee at the time of early retirement; and
  - are on the maximum step of the salary scale.
- 10.15.3 Between the years fifty-five (55) and sixty (60), employees will be paid up to 100% of annual salary by way of early retirement incentive. The incentive will be reduced over age sixty (60) as follows:

61	up to 80% of annual salary
62	up to 60% of annual salary
63	up to 40% of annual salary
64	up to 20% of annual salary

The incentive will be paid in equal annual installments over the number of years for which the employee is eligible.

- 10.15.4 The Union will be advised of any offer of early retirement made to a member, and the employee will be advised of their right to consult with the Union.
- 10.15.5 If an employee's application for the Early Retirement Plan is approved by the University, the employee will retire on a date mutually agreeable to the employee and the University. A written agreement provided by the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources will confirm the details of the arrangement.
- 10.15.6 Once early retirement has been offered and accepted, an employee ceases to be an employee of the University or member of the Union, and forfeits all privileges of seniority.

#### 10.16 Benefits Plan Information

- 10.16.1 The University will provide, for employees' access, a copy of all benefit plan contracts covering Union members.
- 10.16.2 Upon request, the University will provide the Union with a copy of all benefit plan contracts covering Union members. This will apply only to those contracts the University enters into directly with private insurers.
- 10.16.3 The University will consult with the Union through the CUPE Local 15 representatives on the Benefits Committee regarding the insurance carriers and policies as well as continuance, changes and provisions related to any and all elements of the benefits coverage prior to changing any coverage with the benefit carriers or changing carriers.

### 10.17 <u>Death Benefit</u>

In the event of the death of an employee with at least one (1) year of service, the University will pay to the designated beneficiary, spouse, or the estate, of the deceased employee one (1) month's salary. This payment will be in addition to any amount owing to the deceased employee related to employment at the University.

#### 10.18 Same Gender Spouse

10.18.1 The University will recognize spousal relationships of any gender identity or expression in the same way it recognizes opposite gender relationships. Spouse shall include any gender of spouse for all benefits, rights and entitlements of the Collective Agreement where there is no regulatory or other impediment external to the University.

Spouse is defined by virtue of a legal marriage or by, at least, twelve (12) months of cohabitation.

10.18.2 The University will ensure that all of the underwriters of the group benefit plans will provide coverage for **all** spouses **regardless of gender identify or expression**.

# 10.19 <u>Personal Computer Purchase Plan</u>

The University agrees to include support staff in the Computer Purchase Assistance Plan. Devices available under the plan are limited to:

- Desktop computer
- Laptop computer
- Tablet
- Smart phone

# 10.20 Bike Purchase Plan

Employees are eligible to participate in the University Bike Purchase Assistance Plan, if available, in accordance with the terms set by the University and as amended from time to time.

# 11.0 Absence from Duty

# 11.1 Occupational Sickness and Injury

If an employee is entitled to Workers' Compensation Board wage loss benefits, the benefits will be paid directly to the University. The University will pay the employee their full salary for the duration of the approved claim.

# 11.2 Disability Management Program

- 11.2.1 Where an employee is absent for five (5) or more consecutive days of work or where it appears that there is a pattern of frequent absence from work, the employee may be referred for participation in the Disability Management Program (DMP). If an employee is referred, they must participate in the DMP.
- 11.2.2 Once referred, employees are required to provide all necessary information to the DMP provider to determine ongoing participation in the DMP, and any prognosis for early managed return to work.

- 11.2.3 Any employee medical information received or shared with the University will remain confidential; managers will only be provided with information necessary to support required rehabilitative employment.
- 11.2.4 Employees may request Union representation at any stage of the DMP. The Union agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the employee's medical and related information.
- 11.2.5 The ECU Benefits Committee, consisting of two (2) elected CUPE members and two (2) appointed Administrators, will meet to review the operation and effectiveness of the plan.

#### 11.3 <u>Family Illness</u>

- 11.3.1 Probationary and permanent employees will be granted up to five (5) days of paid leave per calendar year to attend to a member of their immediate family in the following circumstances:
  - when no other relative can provide for the needs of the ill family member; or
  - when a member of the immediate family is hospitalized.
- 11.3.2 For the purposes of this clause, "immediate family" will be defined as spouse, children, ward, parent, parent-in-law or step-parent, grandparent, or a relative permanently residing in the employee's household.
- 11.3.3 Any employee absent because of family illness may be required to produce a certificate from a duly qualified medical practitioner, licensed to practice in the Province of British Columbia, certifying the illness of the immediate family member.
- 11.3.4 Absence under this clause will not be considered absence through illness for the purposes of Clause 10.12, Gratuity Plan.
- 11.3.5 Temporary employees who have completed one (1) year continuous service will be eligible for this leave.

#### 11.4 <u>Bereavement Leave</u>

- 11.4.1 Bereavement leave will be granted without loss of pay in the case of the death of a probationary or permanent employee's immediate family **or intimate partner**. For the purpose of this article, the *Employment Standards Act* currently defines immediate family as follows:
  - the spouse, child, parent, guardian, sibling, grandchild, or grandparent of an employee;
  - the child or parent of an employee's spouse,
  - or any person who lives with the employee as a member of the employee's family.

For Indigenous employees this includes an Indigenous Elder or any individual an Indigenous employee considers family consistent with their Indigenous cultural practices. An Indigenous Elder is designated as such by their community. This addition is agreed to on a provisional basis and the specific language is subject to refinement or amendment based on consultations to be conducted with the Indigenous community at ECUAD within six months of ratification.

- 11.4.2 Leave will be granted for a period not to exceed **five** (**5**) working days. Employees will advise the University of the time required as far in advance as possible.
- 11.4.3 Additional leave of up to two (2) working days may be granted for travel time in connection with the funeral or to attend to the affairs connected with the funeral. Requests for this additional leave will be submitted to the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources or designate who will determine and approve the number of days required in each case.
- 11.4.4 An employee may take their full leave entitlement at one time, or defer their leave for up to one (1) year, to attend a memorial, or they may choose to split their leave entitlement into two (2) separate periods, one adjoining the date of the death, and the other leading up to and/or including the date of the memorial service.
- 11.4.5 Employees who require bereavement leave will be granted such leave when on annual vacation if approved by the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources or designate.
- 11.4.6 Employees who are absent on sick leave, any unpaid leave or absent on Workers' Compensation will not be entitled to bereavement leave.
- 11.4.7 Temporary employees who have completed one (1) continuous year of service will be entitled to the provisions of Clause 11.4. Other temporary and casual employees will be entitled to bereavement leave without pay or to apply accumulated time off such as overtime or vacation time to cover the absence with pay.
- 11.4.8 Employees will be granted leave of up to one-half (1/2) day without loss of pay to attend a funeral in any case other than one covered by Clause 11.4.1. Employees will advise the University of the time required as far in advance as possible.

### 11.5 <u>Compassionate Care Leave</u>

- 11.5.1 Employees will be entitled to leave without pay, for up to twenty-seven (27) weeks to care for gravely ill family members.
- 11.5.2 For the purpose of this article, family member is defined as per the *Employment Standards Act* for Compassionate Care Leave.
- 11.5.3 To be eligible employees must, as soon as practicable, provide the employer with a certificate from a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner, confirming a family member requires care, or support, has a serious medical condition, and is at risk of dying within twenty-six (26) weeks.
- 11.5.4 Full benefit coverage will continue for employees granted compassionate leave up to a maximum of twenty-seven (27) weeks, and the premium payment shall be on the same basis as if the employee were not on leave.
- 11.5.5 Where an employee elects to buy back pensionable service for part of all of the duration of the compassionate care leave, to a maximum of twenty-seven (27) weeks, the employer will pay the employer portion of the pension contribution in accordance with the Pension Plan regulations.
- 11.5.6 Compassionate care leave, up to a maximum of twenty-seven (27) weeks, shall be treated as continuous employment for the purposes of seniority accrual under this agreement.

- 11.5.7 If the employee takes a compassionate care leave and the family member does not die within the fifty-two (52) week period, the employee is entitled to take up to another twenty-seven (27) weeks of leave in a subsequent fifty-two (52) week period upon obtaining a new certificate that states the family member has a serious medical condition with a significant risk of death within twenty-six (26) weeks. The leave would be requested and taken under the same conditions as the first leave.
- 11.5.8 An employee who returns to work following a leave granted under this provision shall be placed in the position the employee held prior to the leave or in a comparable position. An employer cannot terminate employment, or change a condition of employment without the employee's written consent because an employee took compassionate care leave.

# 11.6 Leave for Domestic or Sexual Violence

11.6.1 Where leave from work is required due to an employee and/or an employee's dependent child being a victim of domestic or sexual violence, the employee shall be granted leave, in each calendar year, as follows in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*:

# a) Up to 5 days of Paid leave;

- **b)** up to **5** days of unpaid leave; and
- c) up to 15 weeks of unpaid leave.
- d) It is understood that a leave taken by the employee pursuant to (a) or (b) above may be taken intermittently or in one continuous period and leave taken under (c) may be taken in one continuous period, or intermittently upon approval by the employer.

# An employee's seniority, pension, and benefits shall not be affected by taking this leave.

In the event existing legislation is changed regarding domestic or sexual violence leave and provides a greater amount of paid or unpaid leave than identified in (a) through (d) above, the legislation will supersede.

# 11.7 <u>Cultural Leave for Aboriginal Employees</u>

Effective June 1, 2020:

- 11.7.1 A self-identified Aboriginal employee may request up to three (3) days leave with pay per calendar year to organize and/or attend Aboriginal cultural event(s). Such leave will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 11.7.2 Employees will provide the employer with the dates of the days for which leave will be requested. Wherever possible, a minimum of two (2) weeks' notice is required for leave under this provision.

# 11.8 Leave of Absence Without Pay

11.8.1 Leave of absence without pay for up to twelve (12) months may be granted at the discretion of the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources on written request.

- 11.8.2 Upon approval of leaves of absence without pay, employees may immediately exercise an option for continuation of medical and insurance benefits by payment of the full cost of any necessary premiums. Eligibility for purchase of pensionable service will be in accordance with the Pensions BC regulations.
- 11.8.3 If employees have been absent without pay for more than one (1) month, their increment dates will be delayed one (1) month for each month or portion of a month absent in excess of one (1) month.

# 11.9 Jury Duty and Court Appearance

- 11.9.1 Employees will be entitled to leave with pay:
  - when summoned to serve on a jury;
  - when subpoenaed as a witness in criminal proceedings;
  - when subpoenaed as a witness in a civil action if not a party to the action;
  - when appearing as a defendant in a criminal or traffic case, if acquitted.
- 11.9.2 For employees to qualify for this leave, they will produce a summons or subpoena or other evidence to show the necessity of attendance at court.
- 11.9.3 Employees will also provide a statement from an official of the Court of the time taken and the fees paid, if any. Employees may retain the small sum paid to them by the courts in lieu of expenses incurred.

# 11.10 Armed Forces Reserve Training

11.10.1 Leave of absence without pay will be granted to employees attending armed forces reserve training without loss of seniority or service-related benefits, subject to the operational requirements of the University.

# 11.11 <u>Emergency Response Leave</u>

11.11.1 Employees will be entitled to leave with pay to participate in emergency response. This leave will be limited to a maximum of 3 days per calendar year, unless otherwise authorized by the President or designate.

# 11.12 <u>Gender Affirmation Leave</u>

An employee who is undergoing gender affirmation shall upon request be granted a leave for the procedure(s) required during the transition period(s). The employee will provide a certificate from a medical practitioner confirming that they will be undergoing gender transition. Employees may request such leave with or without pay, depending on the employee's applicable leave entitlements. The employer and the employee will work together to tailor the general transition plan to the employee's particular needs.

# 11.13 British Columbia Employment Standards Act

Employees are entitled to leaves not already provided under this agreement in accordance with the current provisions of the *Employment Standards Act* as amended from time to time.

# 12.0 Parenting Leave

# 12.1 <u>Maternity Leave</u>

Maternity benefits are only available to the person who is away from work because they're pregnant or have recently given birth. The leave cannot be shared between parents.

- 12.1.1 A permanent employee will be entitled to maternity leave without pay for a period of up to seventeen (17) consecutive weeks.
- 12.1.2 A temporary employee, a probationary employee or a casual employee will be entitled to maternity leave without pay in accordance with the Employment Standards Act.
- 12.1.3 An employee who takes maternity leave will also be eligible for parental leave.
- 12.1.4 An employee requiring maternity leave will apply in writing to Human Resources at least four (4) weeks prior to the leave, stating the duration of the leave. At any time, but prior to four (4) weeks of the expected return, requests for extensions under this leave will not be unreasonably denied. An employee will provide a certificate from a medical doctor or a registered mid-wife stating the estimated date of birth.
- 12.1.5 Maternity leave will normally commence no earlier than thirteen (13) weeks prior to the estimated date of birth.
- 12.1.6 If an employee wishes to schedule their return to work within six (6) weeks of the date of birth, the University may require a certificate from a medical doctor stating the employee is able to resume their duties.
- 12.1.7 Where an employee gives birth or the pregnancy is terminated before a request for maternity leave is made and the employee requests a leave and provides a certificate from their doctor stating that they have given birth or the pregnancy was terminated on a specified date, the University will grant their maternity leave. If the pregnancy has been terminated, the leave will be for a period requested by the employee, to a maximum of six (6) weeks. If the employee has given birth, the leave will be for a period as provided for in Clauses 12.1.1 or 12.1.2.
- 12.1.8 Where an employee on maternity leave is unable to return to work at the end of the leave for reasons related to the birth or the termination of the pregnancy which is certified by their doctor, the University will grant further leave without pay for a period specified by the doctor, but not for a period exceeding six (6) consecutive weeks, except for those who qualify under Clause 12.1.11
- 12.1.9 Subject to Clause 12.1.11, an employee on maternity leave will be entitled to Special Supplementary Employment Benefits, Clause 12.5, for any health-related absence that commences during the portion of maternity leave required by the *Employment Standards Act* (the first seventeen (17) consecutive weeks). The employee will provide a certificate from a medical doctor establishing the length of time the employee is or was unable to work due to the pregnancy.
- 12.1.10 Health-related absence is defined as that portion of time that an employee is unable to perform their job duties due to the pregnancy.
- 12.1.11 Permanent employees on maternity leave, who have continued participation in the LTD Plan and who are disabled for three (3) months may be eligible for long term disability

benefits, Clause 10.11, upon their prescheduled return to work, provided they are still disabled and subject to the terms and conditions of the long term disability plan insurance contract.

#### 12.2 <u>Parental Leave</u>

Parental leave is available in addition to maternity leave for employees who are pregnant or have recently given birth, or parents caring for their newborn or newly adopted child.

- 12.2.1 Parental leave without pay will be granted on written request, subject to the other provisions of this Clause 12.2.
  - 12.2.1.1 For a parent who takes leave under clause 12.1, they will be entitled to up to sixty-one (61) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave, which must begin, unless the employer and the employee agree otherwise, immediately after the end of the maternity leave as per clause 12.1.
  - 12.2.1.2 For a parent, other than the adopting parent, who does not take leave under clause 12.1, they will be entitled up to sixty-two (62) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave, which must begin within seventy-eight (78) weeks after the birth of the child.
  - 12.2.1.3 For an adopting parent, they will be entitled to up to sixty-two (62) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave, which must begin within seventy-eight (78) weeks after the child is placed with the parent.
- 12.2.2 A parent may apply for parental leave at least four (4) weeks prior to the leave and will provide a certificate from a medical doctor stating the date of birth or probable date of birth if a certificate has not already been provided or a letter from the agency that placed the child confirming adoption.

#### 12.3 <u>General Conditions</u>

- 12.3.1 The services of an employee on any parenting leave will be considered continuous for the purpose of any pension, medical or other plan beneficial to the employee. In the case of temporary employees, this will apply only while their temporary positions exist.
- 12.3.2 The University will continue to make payments to the benefit plans in the same manner as if the employee were not absent where:
  - the University pays the total cost of the plan;
  - the employee continues to pay the employee's share of the cost of a plan that is paid for jointly by the University and the employee.

In the case of temporary employees, this will apply only while their temporary positions exist.

- 12.3.3 All benefit plan coverages, terms, conditions and eligibility requirements will at all times be covered by the actual terms and conditions of the benefit plan contracts.
- 12.3.4 For the purposes of pension contributions, the plan rules apply.
- 12.3.5 Gratuity credits are not earned during the leave.

- 12.3.6 Employees who return from parenting leave will be reinstated in their previous positions, with all increments to wages and benefits which they would have been entitled to had the leave not been taken. This will apply to temporary employees only if their temporary positions still exist.
- 12.3.7 If the University has suspended or discontinued operations during the parenting leave and has not resumed operations on the expiry of the leave, the University will, on resumption of operations and subject to seniority provisions in this Agreement, comply with the provisions of Clause 13.0, Layoff, Recall and Severance Pay, and Clause 12.3.6.
- 12.3.8 The University will not terminate an employee or change a condition of employment because of parenting leave or pregnancy unless the employee has been absent for a period exceeding the period of leave.
- 12.3.9 The burden of proof is on the University that the termination of an employee or a change in a condition of employment is not because of parenting leave or pregnancy.
- 12.3.10 Employees who have exhausted their parenting leave entitlements may apply for additional leave as provided for in Clause 11.8 Leave of Absence Without Pay.
- 12.3.11 Employees who receive additional leave without pay as provided for in Clause 12.3.10 may continue their benefits by paying the full cost of the premiums. Employees are eligible to continue benefits only for a maximum of one (1) year in addition to the legislated maternity leave and the parental leave.
- 12.3.12 If an employee is charged for any medical certificate required by Clause 12.0, the University will reimburse the employee for the certificate upon presentation of a receipt.
- 12.3.13 If the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act* of BC are amended and provide superior conditions to those contained in this Clause 12.0, the superior provisions will apply.

#### 12.4 <u>Regular Supplementary Employment Benefits</u>

- 12.4.1 The University will provide a Supplementary Employment Benefit (SEB) Plan for permanent employees on maternity or parental leave.
- 12.4.2 The SEB Plan will also apply to temporary employees who have completed one (1) continuous year of service averaging twenty-one (21) hours per week or more over the year who are on maternity or parental leave.
- 12.4.3 The SEB Plan is to supplement the Employment Insurance Benefits received by employees for temporary unemployment caused by maternity or parental leave.
- 12.4.4 Except as provided for in Clause 12.5, Special Supplementary Employment Benefits, the SEB Plan will provide covered employees with one hundred twenty five dollars (\$125) per week for seventeen (17) weeks if the employees are on maternity leave, or twelve (12) weeks if on parental leave.
- 12.4.5 If employees receive Special SEB payments as provided for in Clause 12.5, they will be eligible to receive regular SEB payments but the maximum received from the two plans will be seventeen (17) weeks.

- 12.4.6 Consistent with Employment Insurance Regulations, an employee who adopts a special needs child who is older than six (6) months will receive seventeen (17) weeks of SEB payments.
- 12.4.7 Employees who receive these benefits for maternity leave are not eligible to receive them for parental leave.
- 12.4.8 Employees must prove that they have applied for and are in receipt of Employment Insurance Benefits in order to receive SEB payments.
- 12.4.9 SEB is payable for the one (1) week Employment Insurance waiting period.

#### 12.5 Special Supplementary Employment Benefits

- 12.5.1 The University will provide a Special Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan (SSEB) to supplement the Employment Insurance Benefits received by employees on maternity leave who are unable to work due to a health-related absence as defined in Clause 12.1.10.
- 12.5.2 The SSEB will be paid subject to the following:
  - for permanent employees: for a maximum of three (3) months in accordance with Clause 10.5.1;
  - for probationary employees: for a maximum of five (5) days in accordance with Clause 10.5.2;
  - for temporary employees: for a maximum of their accumulated sick leave credits, in accordance with Clause 2.4.21.
- 12.5.3 The benefit level paid under this SSEB Plan is set at ninety-five percent (95%) of normal gross pay minus Maternity or Sickness Employment Insurance Benefits and required deductions.
- 12.5.4 Employees must prove that they are in receipt of Employment Insurance Benefits in order to receive SSEB payments.
- 12.5.5 This plan is payable for the one (1) week Employment Insurance waiting period.

# 13.0 Layoff, Recall and Severance Pay

# 13.1 <u>Layoff</u>

- 13.1.1 Should the University be required to reduce staff or eliminate positions covered by this Agreement, the Union will be consulted prior to the University taking any action. When possible, the University will layoff casual, temporary and probationary employees, in that order, before laying off permanent employees.
- 13.1.2 Probationary employees who are to be laid-off will receive two (2) weeks' notice or pay if notice is not given.
- 13.1.3 Permanent employees who are to be laid-off will receive the following notice or pay if notice is not given:
  - 0-36 months service: four (4) weeks notice;
  - 36 months service and over: one (1) additional week notice for each year of service, to a maximum total of eight (8) weeks notice.

- 13.1.4 Permanent employees who are subject to layoff under Clause 13.1.1 may apply their seniority in the bargaining unit to displace employees with less seniority than their own provided they possess the ability to adequately perform the work of the employees being displaced, and provided they exercise their bumping rights within ten (10) working days from the notice of layoff.
- 13.1.5 Permanent employees who assume positions in lower pay grades will have their current salaries protected until the rate for the new position exceeds the protected rate.
- 13.1.6 Should permanent employees assume part-time positions, their salaries will be prorated.

#### 13.2 <u>Recall</u>

- 13.2.1 If the University determines that staff can be increased, employees who have been laidoff will be recalled in the order of their seniority, provided they have the ability to adequately perform the work made available to them.
- 13.2.2 The University will give notice of recall by registered mail to the employee, who must report to work within ten (10) working days of receipt or forfeit any future rights to recall, unless, on reasonable grounds, the employee is unable to report for work at that time. If the position available is at a lower pay grade than that occupied at the time of layoff, recall rights will not be forfeited.
- 13.2.3 Laid-off employees engaged in alternate employment and who are recalled will be permitted to give their current employer reasonable notice of termination to accept the recall.
- 13.2.4 No new employee will be hired until laid-off employees have been given the opportunity of recall.
- 13.2.5 Recall rights will apply for twelve (12) months following the date of layoff. Employees opting for recall may elect to delay the start of their recall period for up to twelve (12) months following the date of layoff in order to undertake additional, self-funded training. It is agreed that employees who exercise this option will be entitled to access Emily Carr courses under the same conditions as outlined in Clause 15.4 (Emily Carr Courses).
- 13.2.6 An employee who opts for severance pay will forego all bumping and recall rights.
- 13.2.7 The University will supply, on request of the Union, the names of laid-off employees contacted in the filling of a particular vacancy.

#### 13.3 <u>Severance Pay</u>

- 13.3.1 The University will make severance pay available to permanent employees in addition to the required notice or pay if notice is not given.
- 13.3.2 Temporary employees are eligible for severance pay as provided for in Clause 2.4.27.
- 13.3.3 Casual and probationary employees are not eligible for severance pay.
- 13.3.4 The University will inform employees that they have the right to consult with the Union prior to accepting severance pay.

- 13.3.5 Employees who accept severance pay will give up all rights to displace other employees and all recall rights contained in Clauses 13.1 and 13.2. Should severance pay not be accepted, recall rights will be preserved.
- 13.3.6 Employees who accept severance pay will receive one (1) day's pay for each month of service, pro-rated for part-time employees, to a maximum of one hundred forty (140) day's pay.

# 14.0 Seniority

# 14.1 <u>Definition</u>

- 14.1.1 Seniority is defined as the length of service in the bargaining unit for all permanent employees.
- 14.1.2 Seniority will be a factor in determining preference or priority for promotion, transfer, demotion, layoff, permanent reduction of the work force, recall and access to preferred shifts, vacation, and other working conditions, as set out in other provisions of this Agreement.

# 14.2 <u>Seniority List</u>

- 14.2.1 The University will maintain a seniority list showing the current classification and the date upon which each employee's service commenced.
- 14.2.2 Where two or more employees commenced work on the same day, preference will be in accordance with the date of applications for employment.
- 14.2.3 An up-to-date seniority list will be sent to the Union and posted on the Union bulletin boards at the University in January of each year.

# 14.3 Loss of Seniority

- 14.3.1 Employees will not lose seniority rights if they are absent from work because of:
  - sickness
  - disability
  - accident
  - layoff of less than one year
  - labour dispute, or
  - leave of absence approved by the University
- 14.3.2 Employees will only lose their seniority if:
  - they are discharged for just cause and not reinstated;
  - they voluntarily resign, or abandon their position;
  - they voluntarily leave the bargaining unit, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement;
  - they are laid-off for more than one (1) year; or
  - they accept severance pay as provided for in Clause 13.3.

# 14.4 <u>Service Transfer Agreement</u>

14.4.1 CUPE local 15 members, hired directly from Langara College and the Vancouver

Art Gallery, will be credited with their accumulated length of service for vacation, increment, and benefit entitlement purposes. Seniority will not be transferred.

# **15.0** Educational and Professional Development

# 15.1 <u>Education Leave</u>

- 15.1.1 The University will not unreasonably deny leave to attend an educational institution to a permanent employee with at least three (3) years of continuous service.
- 15.1.2 Applications for leave shall include the following:
  - Scope and nature of the scholarly activities
  - Anticipated duration to completion
  - Total anticipated leave requirements
- 15.1.3 If leave is denied, the reasons for denial will be provided in writing to the employee, who may pursue the matter through the grievance procedure.
- 15.1.4 Extensions to leaves may be granted provided the total duration of the extension does not exceed the one (1) year.
- 15.1.5 Following the conclusion of the approved leave plan, a permanent employee may requalify for Education Leave after an additional three (3) years of continuous service. The service necessary for requalification may be lessened by mutual agreement.
- 15.1.6 Requests for education leave beyond that provided in Clauses 15.1.1 and 15.1.4 will be considered under Clause 11.8, Leave of Absence Without Pay.
- 15.1.7 Employees may apply to be reimbursed for the cost of courses, with prior approval of the University and subject to proof of successful completion or required attendance at the course is provided and the course is deemed by the University to be of significant benefit to the University and the employees.
- 15.1.8 Applications for education leave must normally be submitted to the Manager and the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources two (2) months prior to the beginning of the requested leave.
- 15.1.9 Education leaves will be without pay unless otherwise authorized. The normal benefit premium share will continue for the duration of the leave.
- 15.1.10 Employees who do not return to work for a period of time equivalent to the length of the leave of absence following an education leave will be required to repay any benefit premiums and tuition fees the University has paid on their behalf during the leave less any pro-rated amount for the portion of time served subsequent to the leave. Repayment may be deducted from any vacation, gratuity or other pay that the employees are entitled to.

# 15.2 <u>Professional Development Leave</u>

15.2.1 Professional Development Leave with pay is available to a maximum of ten (10) days a year (pro-rated for part-time employees) for each temporary and permanent employee who has completed one (1) year of continuous service.

- 15.2.2 Professional Development Leave may be used for attendance at workshops, conferences, courses, visits to other institutions, day lectures, seminars, symposiums, etc. which are deemed beneficial equally to the employee and the University.
- 15.2.3 Employees who wish Professional Development Leave will apply in writing to their Manager for leave approval with as much lead time as is possible.

#### 15.3 <u>Professional Development</u>

- 15.3.1 Professional Development is available to each temporary and permanent employee who has completed one (1) year of continuous service.
- 15.3.2 Professional Development activities requested by the employee and taking place outside of their scheduled work time will be taken on their own time.

Where the University requires the employee to attend a course outside the employee's work time the employee will receive equivalent time off scheduled at a mutually convenient time.

- 15.3.3 Employees requesting Professional Development will submit a written application to the Professional Development Committee, with as much lead time as possible.
- 15.3.4 The Professional Development Committee is a committee consisting of three (3) Union and three (3) University representatives. The Committee will review individual professional development applications for approval.
- 15.3.5 The Committee will also review and consider other contractual provisions relating to education leave, training in response to technological change, and Emily Carr University courses and make recommendations to the respective principals.
- 15.3.6 The Committee may develop and arrange courses of benefit and interest to University employees including policy education.
- 15.3.7 The Committee will meet on University time.
- 15.3.8 The Committee will plan, implement and manage a new Employee Training Centre and program for the joint use of support and administrative staff for the purpose of facilitating individual and group training in University digital programs and technologies as University resources become available (see Clause 9.5.)

#### 15.4 <u>Emily Carr Courses</u>

- 15.4.1 All employees may have registration fees waived for University courses subject to University policy and the following conditions.
- 15.4.2 Employees will take the courses on their time and not during assigned working hours.
- 15.4.3 Employees must register with the University Admissions Office and meet the necessary entrance requirements for the course.
- 15.4.4 If the potential enrolment of non-employee applicants for the course exceeds the maximum number of students allowed by the University and/or the designated instructor, employees will not be permitted to participate at that time.

- 15.4.5 Employees will not be counted as official "enrolled students" in order for the course to exceed the minimum number of students stipulated by the University and/or the designated instructor.
- 15.4.6 The Manager or designate may consider any request for rescheduling or leave of absence without pay to attend courses. Requests will be made in writing at least five (5) days prior to the commencement of the course. Rescheduling or leave will not adversely affect the operational requirements of the University.

# 16.0 Employee Rights

# 16.1 <u>Human Rights</u>

16.1.1 There will be no discrimination exercised or practised with respect to any employee by reason of **Indigenous identity**, race, colour, ancestry, place of origin, political belief, religion, marital status, family status, physical or mental disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, or age of that person or because that person has been convicted of a criminal summary conviction offence that is unrelated to the employment or to the intended employment of that person nor by reason of an employee's membership or activity in the Union.

# 16.1.2 Harassment

Harassment is a form of discrimination that adversely affects the recipients on one or more of the prohibited grounds under the BC Human Rights Code as referenced in Clause 16.1.1. Harassment in the workplace is unacceptable. CUPE Local 15 and the University are committed to providing a working and learning environment free of harassment. Harassment is a serious offence that may be cause for disciplinary sanctions including, where appropriate, dismissal.

Harassment as defined above is behaviour or the effect of behaviour, whether direct or indirect, which meets one of the following conditions:

- is abusive or demeaning;
- would be viewed by a reasonable person experiencing the behaviour or effect of the behaviour, as an interference with their participation in an institution related activity;
- creates a poisoned environment.

Sexual harassment is behaviour of a sexual nature by a person who knows or ought reasonably to know that the behaviour is unwanted or unwelcome; and

- which interferes with another person's participation in an institution related activity, or
- leads to or implies employment, or academically-related consequences for the person harassed, or which creates a poisoned environment.

Violations of Clauses 16.1.1 or 16.1.2 will be eligible to be processed under the grievance procedure, Clause 6.0 until which time as a mutually agreeable alternative dispute resolution mechanism is developed.

# 16.2 <u>Personal Duties</u>

16.2.1 Employees will not be required to perform duties of a personal nature for supervisory personnel.

16.2.2 Employees' refusal to perform such duties will not be considered a violation of this Agreement, nor will it be grounds for disciplinary action.

# 16.4 Use of Audio and/or Video Recording Devices in Meetings

- **16.4.1** Audio and/or video recording devices cannot be used in meetings without employee's being informed in advance, and having given their explicit consent in writing.
- **16.4.2** In the event that an employee agrees to be recorded the university will inform the Union.
- **16.4.3** If an employee agrees to be recorded, a complete copy of the audio and/or video recording will be provided to the employee within five (5) days of the recording.
- **16.4.4** In the event a transcript is developed from the audio and/or video recording it too shall be shared with the employee.
- **16.4.5** Audio and/or video recordings and transcriptions pursuant to the recording will be stored in compliance with the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FOIPPA)* and will not be kept in personnel files and except where required by law, will not be shared with anyone without the written consent of the employee.

#### 16.5 <u>Ethics and University Policy</u>

If employees feel they are being asked to do something unethical or in violation of University policy, they may pursue the matter through the grievance procedure (Clause 6.0) but this will not be arbitrable.

#### 16.6 <u>Written Response</u>

Employees or the Union are entitled to receive a written answer or confirmation of receipt to any written enquiry or question concerning the interpretation or application of the Agreement, University policy or University benefit plans. The response will normally be within ten (10) working days. Where this is not possible, the University will provide an estimate of when the employee or Union may expect a full timely answer to the enquiry or question. Where the University requests information of the Union, the Union will provide a response within these same parameters.

# 16.7 <u>Personal Harassment</u>

- 16.7.1 The University must provide a safe environment where CUPE members are not subjected to personal harassment. Personal harassment can occur on or off-campus during work-related events and may arise from in-person interactions or social media, electronic, or hard copy communication.
- 16.7.2 For the purposes of this Article, personal harassment includes:
  - physical threat, intimidation, or assault,
  - unwelcome direct or indirect behaviour or comment that is offensive to any employee that demeans, belittles, excludes, isolates, causes personal humiliation or embarrassment to the employee, or any employees, or
  - the improper use of power and authority inherent in the position held.

- 16.7.3 Personal harassment does not include:
  - the appropriate exercise of management's rights to direct the work force, evaluate employees, or take where warranted appropriate progressive discipline steps up-to and including termination for just and reasonable cause;
  - consensual workplace interactions and conversations
  - reasonable workplace disagreements
- 16.7.4 Employees have the option to informally or formally process complaints through the grievance procedure as contained in the collective agreement, or through the resolution process outlined by University policy and procedures. Additionally, Indigenous employees are encouraged to process complaints using traditional Indigenous protocols.
- 16.7.5 To address any potential conflict of interest, where the respondent is the administrative representative at any step of the grievance procedure, then the Union will present the grievance to the President + Vice-Chancellor. In the case of the respondent being the President + Vice-Chancellor, the grievance will be presented to the Board Chair.
- 16.7.7 All investigation reports will be made available to the parties as per the University's routine access procedure.

# **17.0** Notification and Filling of Vacancies

#### 17.1 <u>Notification of Vacancies</u>

- 17.1.1 The University shall issue a notification of all permanent vacancies, and any temporary vacancy expected to exceed three (3) continuous months, to all CUPE employees via email. The notification shall be posted on the University's online applicant tracking system (ATS) for a minimum of ten (10) working days and shall be emailed to employees. The ATS shall be accessed through the University's website.
- 17.1.2 If a temporary vacancy which was not expected to exceed three (3) continuous months eventually does exceed three (3) months, it will be posted at that time.
- 17.1.3 A temporary vacancy of uncertain length beyond the University's control, such as a sick leave replacement, may be posted with a note that the actual length of the temporary work may be shorter or longer than that indicated.
- 17.1.4 The notice of vacancy will include the job title, qualifications required, outline of general duties, hours and days of work, pay grade, salary range and any premiums, length of any temporary assignment, the duty period if it is a Term position, competition closing date and job location, without prejudice to the University's right to transfer employees.
- 17.1.5 All notices required by this clause will be sent to the Union.
- 17.1.6 Employees who are interested in career development opportunities and have provided advice of their interest to Human Resources and their manager may be considered for casual assignments provided they possess the ability to adequately perform the work, and subject to the approval of their current supervisor and the casual assignment supervisor. This only applies to positions that are not subject to posting in accordance with 17.1.1.

# 17.2 <u>Filling of Vacancies</u>

- 17.2.1 In filling vacancies, internal applicants will be considered prior to any external applicants.
- 17.2.2 Where there are two or more permanent employees who are capable of doing the job to the standard required by the University, the job will be awarded to the senior applicant.
- 17.2.3 External applicants will be considered only where there is no internal applicant capable of doing the job to the standard required by the University.
- 17.2.4 Employees who have not been selected for a posted vacancy may, following discussion with the person responsible for the decision, request and receive the specific reasons in writing why they were not selected. If employees choose to initiate a grievance over their non-selection, the grievance time limits in Clause 6.0 will begin when the employees have received the written reasons for non-selection.
- 17.2.5 Temporary employees will be considered for vacancies as provided for in Clause 2.4.28.

# 17.3 <u>Promotion or Transfer</u>

- 17.3.1 Employees who are promoted or transferred to new positions will serve a three (3) month working trial period in the new positions before being confirmed in the appointment. The trial period may be extended by mutual agreement. Requests for extensions will not be unreasonably denied.
- 17.3.2 Employees wishing to return to their previous position, may do so within the three (3) month trial period, by providing two (2) weeks notice.
- 17.3.3 Employees may exercise their right of return to their previous position if they are not successful in the trial period, or if they choose to return within their trial period. The University will notify any employees who may be affected by this clause when it makes an offer of employment and in the appointment letters.
- 17.3.4 Permanent employees who are promoted or transferred to temporary positions will return to their previous positions when the temporary assignments are complete.
- 17.3.5 Upon promotions through competition, employees will be placed on the scale according to their length of service with the University and without change to their increment date.

# 17.4 <u>Rehiring</u>

- 17.4.1 Former employees who are rehired on a permanent (including probationary) basis within twelve (12) months of leaving employment will be credited with:
  - length of service for benefit, increment and vacation entitlement;
  - sick and gratuity leave credits (for which they had not been previously paid); and
  - seniority

that they had accumulated, except where severance pay has been accepted.

17.4.2 Employees rehired on a temporary or casual basis within twelve (12) months will be credited with accumulated length of service as applicable under their current status, including increments.

# 17.5 Early Return From Leave

- **17.5.1** Positions vacated by Permanent internal candidates will be posted as a Temporary vacancy of uncertain length pending the possible return of the incumbent and will indicate the anticipated length of the Temporary assignment, which may be shorter or longer than the date indicated.
- **17.5.2** Employees on leaves allowed by this Agreement may return to their position prior to the scheduled return date, by providing the University with one (1) months written notice. Their temporary replacement will be offered any available casual work for which they are qualified.
- **17.5.3** Employees who accept casual work will be paid the hourly rate for the classification plus **five** and **two**-tenths percent (**5.2**%) in lieu of general holidays. Step placement and vacation pay will be based on accumulated casual service.
- **17.5.4** In accordance with existing pension legislation, if employees are contributors to the Municipal Pension Plan, all hours, excluding overtime, are pensionable and will contribute to pensionable service.

#### 17.6 <u>Hiring Committees</u>

- **17.6.1** Supervisors who are Union members will be on hiring committees for positions they supervise. The University will not be required to delay the hiring process or contact employees if employees are on leave.
- **17.6.2** If hiring for a CUPE supervisory position, the University will make every reasonable effort to have a CUPE member from that area on the hiring committee.

# 18.0 Health and Safety

# 18.1 <u>Workers Compensation Act</u>

The University and the Union agree to comply with all regulations made pursuant to the Workers Compensation Act, or any other statute of the Province of British Columbia pertaining to the safe working environment of the faculty, staff, students and the University.

- 18.2 It is agreed that the maintenance of a safe, non-hazardous and sanitary environment requires the cooperation and contribution of every employee and of the University. Accordingly, Employees are obligated to fully comply with any and all reasonable rules of conduct established by the University.
- 18.3 Pursuant to Division 4 of the Workers Compensation Act, the University shall maintain an Occupational Health and Safety Committee which includes at least one representative selected by the Union. Participation on this committee shall be without loss of pay and shall be considered service to the University.
- 18.4 The Occupational Health and Safety Committee shall hold meetings at regular intervals and where necessary on an expedited basis to consider any unsafe, hazardous, violent, or dangerous conditions in the workplace, to review any specific complaints pertaining

thereto, and to make recommendations pertaining to the alleviation and elimination of occupational health and safety hazards and unfavourable conditions. A copy of all minutes of the Health and Safety Committee shall be made available to all employees.

- 18.5 Every Employee is obligated to report at the first possible opportunity any injury or accident and/or any unsafe, hazardous, violent, or unsanitary condition which might result in an injury or accident, to First Aid personnel and to their immediate supervisor.
- 18.6 The Occupational Health and Safety Committee shall be notified of each accident or injury and may investigate and make recommendations as appropriate. Recommendations will be reported to the relevant personnel and supervisor.
- 18.7 Employees have the right to refuse to perform work they reasonably consider to be unsafe, including for pregnant employees. The employee must report the unsafe condition to their supervisor or to the appropriate person in Administration. No employees shall lose pay, benefits or seniority, or be subject to discipline for refusing to perform duties they reasonably considered to be unsafe. Resolution procedures will be in accordance with WCB.
- 18.8 All **equipment**, workstations, and their usage will meet the regulations and guidelines of the Workers Compensation Act (WCB).
- 18.8.1 Employees will receive an ergonomic assessment upon request to the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources, or designate, within 10 business days of the employees' request where practicable. The employee and employer will act upon the recommendations of the ergonomic assessment within a reasonable time frame.

# 18.9 <u>Training</u>

CUPE representatives to the Occupational Health and Safety Committee are entitled to paid training time in accordance with the Workers Compensation Act and subject to operational requirements.

#### 18.10 <u>Protective Clothing</u>

- 18.10.1 The University will provide protective clothing and equipment determined necessary by the Occupational Health and Safety Committee.
- 18.10.2 Requests for replacement of safety gear which has deteriorated will not be unreasonably denied.

#### 18.11 <u>Employees with Disabilities</u>

18.11.1 Every reasonable effort will be made to maintain employment for employees with disabilities who are in receipt of a medical certificate advising against performing their regular duties by providing these employees with work that is compatible with their abilities but does not create unnecessary work.

# 18.12 <u>Pregnant Employees</u>

18.12.1 Every reasonable effort will be made to maintain employment for pregnant employees in receipt of a medical certificate advising against performing their regular duties by providing these employees with work that is compatible with their abilities but does not create unnecessary work.

18.12.2 Pregnant employees will be entitled, upon request, to be transferred away from work that involves hazardous fumes, chemicals, irritating materials, magnetic fields, and/or heavy lifting without loss of pay.

# 18.13 <u>First Aid Training</u>

- 18.13.1 The normal hours of work and overtime provisions will be relaxed to allow for first aid training as provided for in this Clause 18.13.
- 18.13.2 Employees who have been designated and agreed to serve as Industrial First Aid attendants will have course and material fees paid by the University for obtaining, maintaining or upgrading an Industrial First Aid ticket.
- 18.13.3 Employees will be given leave with pay to attend these courses.
- 18.13.4 Every effort will be made to enable employees to take the regular course. However, an employee may elect to take the evening or compressed course.

# 18.14 <u>First Aid Premium</u>

Employees required to hold an Industrial First Aid ticket will be paid the following premiums:

- "A" Ticket: \$120 per month
- "B" Ticket: \$100 per month
- "C" Ticket: \$80 per month

# **19.0 Workplace Changes**

When the University intends to make substantive changes that will affect staffing, work processes, work priorities or workspaces, it will discuss the proposed changes with the Union and all affected employees to afford the opportunity for input prior to making the changes.

# 19.1 <u>Technological Change</u>

#### 19.1.1 Definition

Technological change will mean the introduction by the University of a change in its work, undertaking or business, or a change in its equipment or material from the equipment or material previously used, or a change in the manner the University carries on its work, undertaking or business related to the introduction of new equipment or material.

- 19.1.2 Introduction of Technological Change
- 19.1.2.1 The University will not introduce any technological change, as defined in Clause 19.1.1, which would adversely affect one or more employees in matters such as wages, working conditions, health and safety, security of employment or other related concerns during the life of this Agreement.
- 19.1.2.2 The University will provide the Union with complete information as far in advance as possible of any proposed technological change.

#### 19.1.3 Training

Where new equipment or other new technology is introduced for which training is required, the University will provide adequate training as it determines is appropriate to the need. Training will normally be on University time, but if the training is arranged on an evening or other basis, there will be compensating time off at straight time.

#### 19.2 <u>General Changes</u>

- 19.2.1 Any reports or recommendations about to be made to the University dealing with matters covered by this Agreement, including recommendations for changes in methods of operation that may affect wage rates, will be made known to the Union before they are dealt with by the University to allow the Union reasonable opportunity to consider them and to make representations to the University concerning them.
- 19.2.2 If employees are deprived of employment by an implementation of these changes, they will receive priority consideration for other employment with the University provided they possess the ability to adequately perform the work in question. This priority consideration will be consistent with the lay-off provisions and other clauses dealing with acquired rights.

#### 19.3 Notice of Construction and Workplace Changes

The University will provide advance notice to all employees who may be affected by construction, renovations, repairs and maintenance, including the use of chemicals, so that the employees may make alternate arrangements to minimize disruption to their work.

# 20.0 Miscellaneous Issues

#### 20.1 Employment Standards Act

- 20.1.1 The University will apply Sections 32(3) (Periods Free From Work), and 35 (Hours Free From Work) of the *Employment Standards Act*.
- 20.1.2 Other provisions of the *Employment Standards Act* will apply, as provided for in the Act.

# 20.2 Public University Board Meetings

The University will provide the Union with agendas in advance of the meetings.

#### 20.3 Intellectual Property

The Parties to this Collective Agreement agree to be governed by the laws, regulations and guidelines applicable to copyright established by the Federal Government as set out in Board-approved University Policy.

# 21.0 **Production of Agreements**

- **21.1** Agreements will be produced and distributed within sixty (60) calendar days of the Parties signing the Memorandum of Agreement. The University agrees to maintain the agreement on its intranet, once implemented.
- **21.2** The University and the Union will commit the necessary resources to accomplish this.

- **21.3** The University and the Union will alternate responsibility for producing the signing copies of the Agreement.
- **21.4** Sufficient copies of the Agreement will be produced for all existing and new employees, along with a reasonable number of copies for the use of the University and the Union.
- **21.5** The Union and the University will share equally the cost of producing copies of the Agreement.

# 21.6 <u>Present Conditions and Benefits</u>

Any working conditions and welfare benefits, or other conditions of employment at present in force which are not specifically mentioned in this Agreement and are not contrary to its intention, will continue with full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement.

This Agreement signed on the seventh day of August 2024.

For the Union:

For the University:

Warren Williams President

TIMADA

Debbie Mohabir Secretary-Treasurer

Don Avison Chairman, Board of Governors

Trish Kelly President + Vice-Chancellor

Kathie Currie Staff Representative

Sara McLaren Bargaining Committee

Alex Fowler Bargaining Committee

C Schagerl

Claire Schagerl Bargaining Committee

Eduardo Rodriguez Bargaining Committee

Viktor Sokha Vice President Finance + Administration

Adrian Tees Associate VP, Human Resources + Privacy Officer

FOR PSEA:

Doug Campbell Chairperson, PSEA Board of Directors

# Schedule A Allocation of Positions to Pay Grades

Pay Grade	Position Titles
A	Handyperson
в	Programs Assistant SIT Programs Assistant JA Teen Programs Assistant Youth Programs Assistant Cashier
с	Foundation Events Assistant Preparator Housing Assistant
D	Maintenance Technician Materials Handler Student Payment Clerk Library Assistant, Circulation M365 Support Technician Media Resources Operations Technician Device Management Support Technician Programs Assistant
E	Accounts Receivable Clerk Administrative Assistant, Facilities Administrative Assistant – Records, Registration + Advising Administrative Assistant – Admissions, Recruitment + International Development Administrative Assistant – Financial Aid and Awards Administrative Assistant Career + Professional Development Assistant Programs Assistant Registration Assistant, CS Receptionist/Information Services Advancement, Events + Filming Assistant Collaborative Technologies Events Technician
F	Library Technician, Circulation Administrative Assistant – Foundation Program Summer Programs Coordinator Admissions Associate AV Technician, ITS Media Resources Technician Event Technician
	Administrative Assistant to the Dean Scheduling Coordinator, Community + External Bookings Computer Technician 2, Computer + Client Support Operations Assistant, CS

	Summer Exhibition Website Coordinator
	Summer Programs Coordinator
	Accounts Payable Specialist
	Studio Technician 2, CS
G	Communications + Marketing Operations Coordinator
	Social media + Content Specialist
	Gallery Registrar
	Library Technician, Technical Services + Reference
	Research Financial Assistant
	Learning Commons Program Assistant
	Events Assistant
	Collaborative Technologies Technician
	Applications Support Administrator
	HDL Coordinator
	Devrell Cresciplist
	Payroll Specialist
	Admissions Advisor
	Academic Advisor
	Career + Professional Development Advisor
	Alumni Relations Officer
	Financial Aid + Awards Advisor
	Student Development Advisor
	International Programs Advisor
	International Student Advisor
	Transfer Credit Advisor
Н	Studio Technician 2
••	Studio Technician 2, Photography
	Studio Technician 2, Animation
	Intermediate Accountant
	Studio Technician 2, Shop Support
	Studio Technician 2, Metal
	Studio Technician 2, Soft Shop
	Studio Technician 2, Painting
	Print Technician 2, Digital Output Centre
	Senior Events Technician
	Aboriginal Program Facilitator*
	Digital Designer + Content Specialist
	Access + Operations Advisor
	Bookstore Coordinator
	Curatorial Assistant
	Exhibition Technician
	Internal Exhibitions Coordinator
	Research Centre Coordinator
	REB Coordinator
	Coordinator Living Labs
	Aboriginal Program Coordinator*
	Aboriginal Program Coordinator*
	Accounts Payable Supervisor
	Advancement Administration + Operations Coordinator
	Collaborative Technologies Production Lead
	Media Resources Senior Technician
	Apple Systems Administrator
	Studio Technician 3, CNC
	Head of Gallery Publishing
	Studio Technician 3, IDS
•	

Studio Technician 3, Animation         Technical Services Communication Designer         Studio Technician 3, Media Arts         Studio Technician 3, Media Arts         Studio Technician 3, Media Arts         Studio Technician 3, Shop Support         Studio Technician 3, Shop Support         Studio Technician 3, Print Media         Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC Systems Administrator         PL Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator Lead		
Technical Services Communication Designer         Studio Technician 3, Media Arts         Studio Technician 3, Metal Shop         Studio Technician 3, Synthetics Lab         Studio Technician 3, Synthetics Lab         Studio Technician 3, Print Media         Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Phot Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Research         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator </th <th></th> <th>Senior Equipment Technician</th>		Senior Equipment Technician
Studio Technician 3, Foundation         Studio Technician 3, Media Arts         Studio Technician 3, Shop Support         Studio Technician 3, Shop Support         Studio Technician 3, Spithetics Lab         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC HAC Systems Administrator         Print Techniclan 3, Digital Output Centre         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payoll Supervisor		
Studio Technician 3, Media Arts         Studio Technician 3, Shop Support         Studio Technician 3, Synthetics Lab         Studio Technician 3, Print Media         Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Point Media         Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         Av Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator		•
Studio Technician 3, Metal Shop         Studio Technician 3, Synthetics Lab         Studio Technician 3, Painting         Studio Technician 3, Synthetics Lab         Studio Technician 3, Synthetics Lab         Studio Technician 3, Strint Media         Studio Technician 3, Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, NBSA         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC Systems Administrator         P C Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PG Systems Administrator         PS Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         K       Print Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician 3, Ceramics       Research Technician 3         K       Print Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician 3, Ceramics		
<ul> <li>Studio Technician 3, Shop Support</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Print Media</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Print Media</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Nesearch</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Nesearch</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Nesearch</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Photography</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management</li> <li>Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale</li> <li>AV Technology Coordinator</li> <li>Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre</li> <li>PC + MAC Systems Administrator</li> <li>PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum</li> <li>Teaching + Learning Centre Technician</li> <li>Accounts Receivable Supervisor</li> <li>Payroll Supervisor</li> <li>Studio Technician 5, Ceramics</li> </ul>		
Studio Technician 3, Synthetics Lab         Studio Technician 3, Print Media         Studio Technician 3, 3D Sculpture         Studio Technician 3, Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Notography         Studio Technician 3, Notography         Studio Technician 3, NBSA         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PS Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician 3         Research Technician 3         K       Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning		
Studio Technician 3, Painting         Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Nesaerch         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, NMSA         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         PS Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Research Technician         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         AV Specialist		Studio Technician 3, Shop Support
Studio Technician 3, Print Modia         Studio Technician 3, 3D Sculpture         Studio Technician 3, Research         Studio Technician 3, Notography         Studio Technician 3, Netography         Studio Technician 3, NMSA         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         K         Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         AV Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learnin		Studio Technician 3, Synthetics Lab
Studio Technician 3, 3D Sculpture         Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         J       PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         K       Print + Transactional Lead		Studio Technician 3, Painting
Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery         Studio Technician 3, Ptotography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Media Resources Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         Av Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Desi		Studio Technician 3, Print Media
Studio Technician 3, Research         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Digital Fabrication         Studio Technician 3, Digital Fabrication         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         K       Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         A V Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         Instructional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator		Studio Technician 3, 3D Sculpture
Studio Technician 3, Research         Studio Technician 3, Photography         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         K Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Av Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         K Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid L		Studio Technician 3, Soft Shop/Embroidery
Studio Technician 3, Photography Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design Studio Technician 3, COMD Studio Technician 3, CoMD Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary VS Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material ResaleAV Technology Coordinator Print Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material ResaleJPC Systems Administrator PC Systems Administrator PC Systems AdministratorJPC Systems Administrator PC Systems Administrator PC Systems AdministratorJPC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum Teaching + Learning Centre Technician Accounts Receivable Supervisor Payroll Supervisor Studio Technician 3, CeramicsKPrint Transactional Lead Apple Systems Administrator Lead IT Infrastructure Coordinator Media Resources Coordinator Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation C		
Studio Technician 3, IMISA         Studio Technician 3, FMSA         Studio Technician 3, FMSA         Studio Technician 3, Digital Fabrication         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         K         Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Instructiona		
Studio Technician 3, Interaction Design         Studio Technician 3, Digital Fabrication         Studio Technician 3, OOMD         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management         Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         P C Systems Administrator         J PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         Apple Systems Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenou		
Studio Technician 3, FMSA Studio Technician 3, Digital Fabrication Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CS Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model ManagementJAV Technology Coordinator Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre PC Systems Administrator PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum Teaching + Learning Centre Technician Accounts Receivable Supervisor Payroll Supervisor Studio Technician 3, CeramicsResearch Technician Service Desk Coordinator AV Specialist Media Resources Coordinator AV Specialist Instructure Coordinator Instructional Lead Apple Systems Administrator Lead IT Infrastructure Coordinator Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordina		
Studio Technician 3, Digital FabricationStudio Technician 3, COMDStudio Technician 3, InterdisciplinaryStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CSStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model ManagementStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model ManagementStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material ResaleAV Technology CoordinatorPrint Technician 3, Digital Output CentrePC + MAC Systems AdministratorPC Systems AdministratorPC Systems Administrator, Non-CurriculumTeaching + Learning Centre TechnicianAccounts Receivable SupervisorPayroll SupervisorStudio Technician 3, CeramicsResearch TechnicianService Desk CoordinatorAV SpecialistMedia Resources CoordinatorAV Systems Administrator LeadIT Infrastructure CoordinatorINstructional Technologies SpecialistInstructional Designer, Online + Hybrid LearningWork Integrated Learning CoordinatorIndigenous Business Development LiaisonCoordinator, Library OperationsIDS Tech 3Shop Technologies CoordinatorTechnical Services Foundation CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorLCreative Lead		
Studio Technician 3, CÓMDStudio Technician 3, InterdisciplinaryStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CSStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model ManagementStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model ManagementStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material ResaleAV Technology CoordinatorPrint Technician 3, Digital Output CentrePC + MAC Systems AdministratorPC Systems AdministratorJPC Systems Administrator, Non-CurriculumTeaching + Learning Centre TechnicianAccounts Receivable SupervisorPayroll SupervisorStudio Technician 3, CeramicsResearch TechnicianService Desk CoordinatorAV SpecialistMedia Resources CoordinatorAV SpecialistMedia Resources CoordinatorKPrint + Transactional LeadApple Systems Administrator LeadIT Infrastructure CoordinatorInstructional Designer, Online + Hybrid LearningWork Integrated Learning CoordinatorInstructional Designer, Online + Hybrid LearningWork Integrated Learning CoordinatorIndigenous Business Development LiaisonCoordinator, Library OperationsIDS Tech 3Shop Technologies CoordinatorTechnical Services Foundation CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorEvents Lead*Foundation Program AdvisorLCreative Lead		
Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CSStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model ManagementStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material ResaleAV Technology CoordinatorPrint Technician 3, Digital Output CentrePC + MAC Systems AdministratorPC Systems Administrator, Non-CurriculumTeaching + Learning Centre TechnicianAccounts Receivable SupervisorPayroll SupervisorStudio Technician 3, CeramicsResearch TechnicianService Desk CoordinatorAV SpecialistMedia Resources CoordinatorKPrint + Transactional LeadApple Systems Administrator LeadIT Infrastructure CoordinatorInstructional Designer, Online + Hybrid LearningWork Integrated Learning CoordinatorIndigenous Business Development LiaisonCoordinator, Library OperationsIDS Tech 3Shop Technologies CoordinatorTechnical Services Foundation CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorCreative Lead*Foundation Program AdvisorLCreative Lead		
Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary CSStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model ManagementStudio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material ResaleAV Technology CoordinatorPrint Technician 3, Digital Output CentrePC + MAC Systems AdministratorPC Systems AdministratorPC Systems Administrator, Non-CurriculumTeaching + Learning Centre TechnicianAccounts Receivable SupervisorPayroll SupervisorStudio TechnicianService Desk CoordinatorKPrint + Transactional LeadApple Systems Administrator LeadIT Infrastructure CoordinatorKNork Integrated Learning CoordinatorINSTRUCTIONAL CoordinatorKPrint + Transactional LeadApple Systems Administrator LeadIT Infrastructure CoordinatorInstructional Technologies SpecialistInstructional Designer, Online + Hybrid LearningWork Integrated Learning CoordinatorIndigenous Business Development LiaisonCoordinator, Library OperationsIDS Tech 3Shop Technologies CoordinatorTechnical Services Foundation CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorEvents Lead*Foundation Program AdvisorLCreative Lead		
Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Model Management Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre PC + MAC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator         Pacsing + Learning Centre Technician Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician Service Desk Coordinator AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator Instructional Lead Apple Systems Administrator Lead IT Infrastructure Coordinator Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program Advisor         L       Creative Lead		
Studio Technician 3, Interdisciplinary Material Resale         AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		
AV Technology Coordinator         Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         K         Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		
Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		Studio recimicianis, interdisciplinary Material Resale
Print Technician 3, Digital Output Centre         PC + MAC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator         PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		AV Technology Coordinator
PC + MAC Systems AdministratorPC Systems AdministratorPC Systems Administrator, Non-CurriculumTeaching + Learning Centre TechnicianAccounts Receivable SupervisorPayroll SupervisorStudio Technician 3, CeramicsResearch TechnicianService Desk CoordinatorAV SpecialistMedia Resources CoordinatorKPrint + Transactional LeadApple Systems Administrator LeadIT Infrastructure CoordinatorInstructional Technologies SpecialistInstructional Designer, Online + Hybrid LearningWork Integrated Learning CoordinatorIndigenous Business Development LiaisonCoordinator, Library OperationsIDS Tech 3Shop Technologies CoordinatorTechnical Services Foundation CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorEvents Lead*Foundation Program AdvisorLCreative Lead		
J       PC Systems Administrator         J       PC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum         Teaching + Learning Centre Technician         Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         K         Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L       Creative Lead		
JPC Systems Administrator, Non-Curriculum Teaching + Learning Centre Technician Accounts Receivable Supervisor Payroll Supervisor Studio Technician 3, CeramicsResearch Technician Service Desk Coordinator AV Specialist Media Resources Coordinator AV Specialist Media Resources Coordinator Lead Apple Systems Administrator Lead IT Infrastructure Coordinator Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator L Creative Lead		
Teaching + Learning Centre Technician Accounts Receivable Supervisor Payroll Supervisor Studio Technician 3, CeramicsResearch Technician Service Desk Coordinator AV Specialist Media Resources Coordinator AV Specialist Media Resources Coordinator Apple Systems Administrator Lead IT Infrastructure Coordinator Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator Lead* Foundation Program Advisor LL	J	
Accounts Receivable Supervisor         Payroll Supervisor         Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         K         Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L	-	
Payroll Supervisor Studio Technician 3, CeramicsResearch Technician Service Desk Coordinator AV Specialist Media Resources Coordinator Print + Transactional Lead Apple Systems Administrator Lead IT Infrastructure Coordinator Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program AdvisorL		
Studio Technician 3, Ceramics         Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         K         Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		
Research Technician         Service Desk Coordinator         AV Specialist         Media Resources Coordinator         K         Print + Transactional Lead         Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		
Service Desk CoordinatorAV SpecialistMedia Resources CoordinatorFrint + Transactional LeadApple Systems Administrator LeadIT Infrastructure CoordinatorInstructional Technologies SpecialistInstructional Designer, Online + Hybrid LearningWork Integrated Learning CoordinatorIndigenous Business Development LiaisonCoordinator, Library OperationsIDS Tech 3Shop Technologies CoordinatorTechnical Services Foundation CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorEvents Lead*Foundation Program AdvisorLCreative Lead		
AV Specialist Media Resources CoordinatorKPrint + Transactional Lead Apple Systems Administrator Lead IT Infrastructure Coordinator Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program AdvisorL		
K       Media Resources Coordinator         Frint + Transactional Lead       Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator       Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning       Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator       Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations       IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator       Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator       Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor       Creative Lead		
KPrint + Transactional LeadApple Systems Administrator LeadIT Infrastructure CoordinatorInstructional Technologies SpecialistInstructional Designer, Online + Hybrid LearningWork Integrated Learning CoordinatorIndigenous Business Development LiaisonCoordinator, Library OperationsIDS Tech 3Shop Technologies CoordinatorTechnical Services Foundation CoordinatorTechnical Services Media CoordinatorEvents Lead*Foundation Program AdvisorLCreative Lead		
Apple Systems Administrator Lead         IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		
IT Infrastructure Coordinator         Instructional Technologies Specialist         Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning         Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L	K	Print + Transactional Lead
Instructional Technologies Specialist Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program AdvisorL		Apple Systems Administrator Lead
Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning Work Integrated Learning Coordinator Indigenous Business Development Liaison Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3 Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program Advisor L Creative Lead		IT Infrastructure Coordinator
Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		Instructional Technologies Specialist
Work Integrated Learning Coordinator         Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		Instructional Designer, Online + Hybrid Learning
Indigenous Business Development Liaison         Coordinator, Library Operations         IDS Tech 3         Shop Technologies Coordinator         Technical Services Foundation Coordinator         Technical Services Media Coordinator         Events Lead*         Foundation Program Advisor         L		
Coordinator, Library Operations IDS Tech 3 Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program Advisor L Creative Lead		
IDS Tech 3 Shop Technologies Coordinator Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program Advisor L Creative Lead		•
Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program Advisor L Creative Lead		
Technical Services Foundation Coordinator Technical Services Media Coordinator Events Lead* Foundation Program Advisor L Creative Lead		
Technical Services Media CoordinatorEvents Lead*Foundation Program AdvisorLCreative Lead		
Events Lead* Foundation Program Advisor L Creative Lead		
Foundation Program Advisor L Creative Lead		
L Creative Lead		
		•
	L	
Marketing Officer		Marketing Officer

Research Financial Analyst Application Developer, Learning Technologies* Applications Administration Lead* Devices Administration Lead* Systems Administrator*
Communications Officer, Digital Infrastructure Strategy Developer Lead Systems Administrator Communications Officer* SharePoint Solution Architect + Designer* Systems Administrator, M365* Systems/Network Administrator*
Technician, IDS
IDS Technician 4
Network Operations Coordinator

\*Anomaly positions as per Article 7

# Annual Rates Effective 1 April 2022 Pay Equity Scale

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
A	40,331.20	41,241.20	42,187.60	43,134.00
В	42,187.60	43,134.00	44,116.80	45,117.80
С	44,116.80	45,117.80	46,155.20	47,192.60
D	46,155.20	47,192.60	48,266.40	49,376.60
E	48,266.40	49,376.60	50,505.00	51,651.60
F	50,505.00	51,651.60	52,834.60	54,035.80
G	52,834.60	54,035.80	55,255.20	56,511.00
н	55,255.20	56,511.00	57,821.40	59,131.80
I	57,821.40	59,131.80	60,478.60	61,861.80
J	60,478.60	61,861.80	63,263.20	64,719.20
К	63,263.20	64,719.20	66,193.40	67,704.00
L	66,193.40	67,704.00	69,251.00	70,834.40
м	69,251.00	70,834.40	72,454.20	74,110.40

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.42** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

# Monthly Rates Effective 1 April 2022 Pay Equity Scale

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
A	3,360.93	3,436.77	3,515.63	3,594.50
В	3,515.63	3,594.50	3,676.40	3,759.82
С	3,676.40	3,759.82	3,846.27	3,932.72
D	3,846.27	3,932.72	4,022.20	4,114.72
E	4,022.20	4,114.72	4,208.75	4,304.30
F	4,208.75	4,304.30	4,402.88	4,502.98
G	4,402.88	4,502.98	4,604.60	4,709.25
н	4,604.60	4,709.25	4,818.45	4,927.65
I	4,818.45	4,927.65	5,039.88	5,155.15
J	5,039.88	5,155.15	5,271.93	5,393.27
к	5,271.93	5,393.27	5,516.12	5,642.00
L	5,516.12	5,642.00	5,770.92	5,902.87
м	5,770.92	5,902.87	6,037.85	6,175.87

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.42** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

# Hourly Rates Effective 1 April 2022 Pay Equity Scale

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
A	22.16	22.66	23.18	23.70
В	23.18	23.70	24.24	24.79
С	24.24	24.79	25.36	25.93
D	25.36	25.93	26.52	27.13
E	26.52	27.13	27.75	28.38
F	27.75	28.38	29.03	29.69
G	29.03	29.69	30.36	31.05
н	30.36	31.05	31.77	32.49
I	31.77	32.49	33.23	33.99
J	33.23	33.99	34.76	35.56
к	34.76	35.56	36.37	37.20
L	36.37	37.20	38.05	38.92
М	38.05	38.92	39.81	40.72

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.42** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

# Annual Rates Effective 1 April 2023\* Pay Equity Scale

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
Α	43,061.20	44,025.80	45,026.80	46,046.00
В	45,026.80	46,046.00	47,101.60	48,157.20
С	47,101.60	48,157.20	49,267.40	50,377.60
D	49,267.40	50,377.60	51,524.20	52,707.20
E	51,524.20	52,707.20	53,908.40	55,146.00
F	53,908.40	55,146.00	56,401.80	57,675.80
G	56,401.80	57,675.80	58,986.20	60,333.00
н	58,986.20	60,333.00	61,716.20	63,117.60
I	61,716.20	63,117.60	64,555.40	66,029.60
J	64,555.40	66,029.60	67,540.20	69,087.20
к	67,540.20	69,087.20	70,652.40	72,272.20
L	70,652.40	72,272.20	73,928.40	75,621.00
м	73,928.40	75,621.00	77,350.00	79,115.40

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.52** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

# Monthly Rates Effective 1 April 2023\* Pay Equity Scale

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
A	3,588.43	3,668.82	3,752.23	3,837.17
В	3,752.23	3,837.17	3,925.13	4,013.10
С	3,925.13	4,013.10	4,105.62	4,198.13
D	4,105.62	4,198.13	4,293.68	4,392.27
E	4,293.68	4,392.27	4,492.37	4,595.50
F	4,492.37	4,595.50	4,700.15	4,806.32
G	4,700.15	4,806.32	4,915.52	5,027.75
н	4,915.52	5,027.75	5,143.02	5,259.80
I	5,143.02	5,259.80	5,379.62	5,502.47
J	5,379.62	5,502.47	5,628.35	5,757.27
К	5,628.35	5,757.27	5,887.70	6,022.68
L	5,887.70	6,022.68	6,160.70	6,301.75
м	6,160.70	6,301.75	6,445.83	6,592.95

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.52** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
A	23.66	24.19	24.74	25.30
В	24.74	25.30	25.88	26.46
С	25.88	26.46	27.07	27.68
D	27.07	27.68	28.31	28.96
E	28.31	28.96	29.62	30.30
F	29.62	30.30	30.99	31.69
G	30.99	31.69	32.41	33.15
н	32.41	33.15	33.91	34.68
I	33.91	34.68	35.47	36.28
J	35.47	36.28	37.11	37.96
К	37.11	37.96	38.82	39.71
L	38.82	39.71	40.62	41.55
м	40.62	41.55	42.50	43.47

# Hourly Rates Effective 1 April 2023\* Pay Equity Scale

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.52** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

# Annual Rates Effective 1 April 2024\* Pay Equity Scale

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
A	44,353.40	45,354.40	46,373.60	47,429.20
В	46,373.60	47,429.20	48,521.20	49,595.00
С	48,521.20	49,595.00	50,741.60	51,888.20
D	50,741.60	51,888.20	53,071.20	54,290.60
E	53,071.20	54,290.60	55,528.20	56,802.20
F	55,528.20	56,802.20	58,094.40	59,404.80
G	58,094.40	59,404.80	60,751.60	62,134.80
н	60,751.60	62,134.80	63,572.60	65,010.40
I	63,572.60	65,010.40	66,484.60	68,013.40
J	66,484.60	68,013.40	69,560.40	71,162.00
к	69,560.40	71,162.00	72,763.60	74,438.00
L	72,763.60	74,438.00	76,148.80	77,896.00
м	76,148.80	77,896.00	79,679.60	81,481.40

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.57** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

# Schedule B

## Monthly Rates Effective 1 April 2024\* Pay Equity Scale

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
А	3,696.12	3,779.53	3,864.47	3,952.43
В	3,864.47	3,952.43	4,043.43	4,132.92
С	4,043.43	4,132.92	4,228.47	4,324.02
D	4,228.47	4,324.02	4,422.60	4,524.22
E	4,422.60	4,524.22	4,627.35	4,733.52
F	4,627.35	4,733.52	4,841.20	4,950.40
G	4,841.20	4,950.40	5,062.63	5,177.90
н	5,062.63	5,177.90	5,297.72	5,417.53
I	5,297.72	5,417.53	5,540.38	5,667.78
J	5,540.38	5,667.78	5,796.70	5,930.17
К	5,796.70	5,930.17	6,063.63	6,203.17
L	6,063.63	6,203.17	6,345.73	6,491.33
м	6,345.73	6,491.33	6,639.97	6,790.12

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.57** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

\*The wage increases have been adjusted pursuant to Letter of Understanding #11 Re: Cost of Living Adjustment.

# Schedule B

## Hourly Rates Effective 1 April 2024\* Pay Equity Scale

Pay Grade	1	2	3	4
A	24.37	24.92	25.48	26.06
В	25.48	26.06	26.66	27.25
С	26.66	27.25	27.88	28.51
D	27.88	28.51	29.16	29.83
E	29.16	29.83	30.51	31.21
F	30.51	31.21	31.92	32.64
G	31.92	32.64	33.38	34.14
н	33.38	34.14	34.93	35.72
I	34.93	35.72	36.53	37.37
J	36.53	37.37	38.22	39.10
К	38.22	39.10	39.98	40.90
L	39.98	40.90	41.84	42.80
М	41.84	42.80	43.78	44.77

Employees whose regular shifts end at later than 7:00pm or who are required to work weekends will be paid a premium of **\$1.57** per hour for all hours worked. Shift premiums will not be paid for overtime hours worked.

\*The wage increases have been adjusted pursuant to Letter of Understanding #11 Re: Cost of Living Adjustment.

# Schedule C

### Letter of Understanding #1 - Great Northern Way

With regard to the GNW campus, the parties seek to establish and maintain a supportive and consultative relationship with the P3 partner, through ECU's General Manager P# Facility Operations.

The University and CUPE will strike a committee consisting of Administrators and CUPE representatives from the JCC, OHS, and CUPE Stewards. This committee will work with employees affect by new, ongoing or operational deficiencies, health and safety concerns or other issues as per 18.0, 19, 19.1, 19.2, 19.3.

The Committee will establish clear guidelines around the regular, transparent and timely reporting of P3 facility issues, and will monitor the effectiveness of the Universities actions with respect to any identified concerns and address issues as they arise.

#### Letter of Understanding #2 – Deferred Salary Leave Plan

The Parties agree to meet before the expiry of the Collective Agreement to continue discussions on the feasibility of and interest in establishing a Deferred Salary Leave Plan.

#### Letter of Understanding #3 – Discussions on Curricular Changes and their Impact

The parties agree to convene a working group of two (2) Stewards, at least three (3) CUPE representatives from the Technical Services department from both studio and shop environments, and at least three (3) University representatives within six (6) months of the ratification of the agreement.

The working group will review issues and recommend strategies to the Vice-President, Academic & Provost, to address the application of the collective agreement regarding: expectations around technical instruction, curricular changes, and issues around the responsibilities of Technicians to ensure a safe work environment and the impact these matters have on CUPE staff.

Proposals or recommendations having cost or collective agreement impacts will be brought back to the next round of collective bargaining and any collective agreement changes are subject to ratification by CUPE, the University and the Post-Secondary Employers' Association.

Other employee representatives from within the University community may be invited by mutual agreement of the committee to participate in relevant discussions.

#### Letter of Understanding #4 – Re-examination of the Gender Neutral Plan

The University and the Union agree to strike a committee of up to three (3) CUPE members and three (3) Administrative Staff, to re-examine the Definitions, Notes to Raters, Factor Weights, Point Banding and Position Description Questionnaire within the Gender Neutral Position Evaluation Plan (The Plan).

The committee will convene within six (6) months of ratification of the agreement, to begin the plan review and develop mutually agreed to recommendations for modifying the plan. Following review, the committee will make recommendations to the parties for their consideration.

### Letter of Understanding #5 – Wellness and Health Initiative Program (WHIP)

The parties agree to the creation of a Wellness and Health Initiative Program (WHIP) to support and promote the health and wellness of CUPE members. WHIP aims to:

- Encourage sustainable habits of wellness;
- Increase awareness of factors and resources that contribute to personal wellbeing; and
- Inspire individuals to take responsibility for their own health (physical, emotional and/or psychological).

The WHIP fund is distinct from the Professional Development Funds and Service Improvement Allocation funds and will be administered through HR and two (2) designated CUPE members (the WHIP committee).

All employee applications will be submitted to the WHIP committee for approval. Funds are allocated on an equity basis and will be available on a first-come first-serve basis, and must adhere to the following criteria:

- Eligible expenses are as per an approved list;
- Must have been incurred in the current fiscal year;
- The expense must benefit the employee directly;
- May only be submitted once per fiscal year; and
- Reimbursement for expenses cannot have been claimed elsewhere such as under an extended health plan or other plans where such expenses may be claimed.

Once approved, employees will submit receipts through a process determined by the University.

Eligible activities and opportunities supported by this allocation will focus on:

- Promoting personal wellness including:
  - Fitness trackers
  - App subscription
  - Books and other literary resources, both physical and digital
- Consulting health and wellness professionals
- Accessing health and wellness facilities, classes and/or programs
- Equipment (excluding clothing and footwear), supplies and/or materials
- Other expenses deemed reasonable by the WHIP Committee

The funding amounts will be in accordance with the following schedule:

Year 1: Effective April 1, 2022	Year 2: Effective April 1, 2023	Year 3: Effective April 1, 2024
\$25,196	\$51,462	\$46,280

For years one (1) and two (2) any unspent balance at the end of each fiscal year shall be carried forward and added to the allocation for the next fiscal year. For year three (3), funds not allocated within the fiscal year will be carried over. The April 1, 2024 (year 3) amount (see above) represents the ongoing funding for this initiative.

This Letter of Understanding expires on March 31, 2025.

### Letter of Understanding #6 – MSP Premiums

The parties recognize that the method of funding MSP has been changed.

If the government, at any time in the future, reverts to an individually paid premium system for basic medical insurance, the parties agree that the employer will pay 100% of the premium for employees on the same basis as exists in the 2014-2019 collective agreement.

### Letter of Understanding #7 – Service Improvement Allocation (SIA)

The Service Improvement Allocation (SIA) will be used to support the professional, intellectual and cultural development of Emily Carr support staff to enhance the delivery of support services to our diverse student base of artists, designers, and media practitioners.

This Service Improvement Allocation is distinct from the Professional Development Funds outlined in Article 15.2 and will be administered through the Joint Professional Development Committee.

Training activities and opportunities supported by this allocation will focus on, but are not limited to:

- supporting cultural awareness
- furthering meaningful engagement
- fostering inclusivity
- promoting community
- supporting the development of research skills or areas of expertise that directly relate to and impact the student learning experience
- deepening understanding of artistic techniques or technological advances

On April 1, an annual amount of \$52,000 represents the ongoing funding for this initiative. Any unspent monies in a fiscal year, will only be able to be carried over for one year only.

#### Letter of Understanding #8 – Gratuity Article 10.12

Joint Committee on Review of the Gratuity Plan

- 1. The parties agree to establish a Joint Committee on Review of the Gratuity Plan Article 10.12.
- 2. The committee shall be equally represented and shall consist of three (3) Employer Representatives and three (3) Union Representatives. Either party may bring experts with agreement of the other party and the parties shall each bear their own costs of participation.
- 3. The goal of the Committee is to review Article 10.12 and make recommendations to align with the goals of the University regarding Equity, Diversity and Inclusion for the next round of negotiations.
- 4. The Committee will meet from October 1, 2023 until March 1, 2025, unless otherwise agreed by the parties.
- 5. The Committee may make recommendations to the University and the Union. The findings of the committee will be submitted to the parties' respective principals for

review and will be subject to the sector's ratification process. For the University, the principals include the Board of Directors and the PSEA Board of Directors.

The committee will begin its work after October 1, 2023 and conclude its work no later than March 1, 2025 at which time this LOU will expire.

#### Letter of Understanding #9 – Critical Incident Stress Debrief Program

The University is committed to the health and safety of its community and will develop an Emergency Management – Response and Recovery Plan to support the community in responding to the emergent issues that impact the teaching, learning, and working environment of the University.

A major component to the plan is a Critical Incident Stress Debrief (CISD) program. This program is designed to support employees impacted by serious unforeseen incidents that occur on campus. CISD programs vary in their structure, and the University is committed to developing a program that meets the needs of the University community.

The University will strike a committee and shall include three (3) CUPE 15 employees in its membership.

The CISD consultation committee will be initiated within 30 days of the ratification of the 2022-2025 collective agreement.

#### Letter of Understanding #10 – Telecommuting

The University sees benefit in a dynamic Telecommuting Framework which balances operational needs while offering enriched recruitment and employee flexibility. The University confirms it is committed to maintaining remote work options for employees where all requirements of the position can be met based on operational needs, in accordance with the University's Telecommuting Framework for Administrators, CUPE Staff + Non-Teaching Faculty.

The University shall consult with CUPE Local 15 when contemplating changes to the framework. Unfair refusal or termination of telecommuting requests will be subject to clause 6.0 the grievance procedure.

#### Letter of Understanding #11 - Cost of Living Adjustment

#### Definitions

"General Wage Increase" or "GWI" means the overall general wage increase expressed as a percentage.

"Cost of Living Adjustment" or "COLA" means a percentage-based general wage increase adjustment provided in accordance with this Memorandum of Agreement. COLA is an upward adjustment applied to and folded into all wage rates.

The "annualized average of BC CPI over twelve months" (AABC CPI) means the *Latest 12-month Average Index% Change* reported by BC Stats in March for British Columbia for the twelve months starting at the beginning of March in the preceding year and concluding at the end of the following February.

The "Latest 12-month Average Index", as defined by BC Stats, is a 12-month moving average of the BC consumer price indexes of the most recent 12 months. This figure is calculated by averaging index levels over the applicable 12 months.

The Latest 12-month Average Index % Change is reported publicly by BC Stats in the monthly BC Stats Consumer Price Index Highlights report. The BC Stats Consumer Price Index Highlights report released in mid-March will contain the applicable figure for the 12-months concluding at the end of February. The percentage change reported by BC Stats that will form the basis for determining any COLA increase is calculated to one decimal point. For reference purposes only, the annualized average of BC CPI over twelve months from March 1, 2021 to February 28, 2022 was 3.4%.

#### COLA

The COLA will be applied as applicable to the GWI effective on April 1, 2023 and April 1, 2024. The COLA will be calculated by determining the difference between the AABC CPI and the annual general wage increase to the maximum COLA prescribed that year in Wage Schedule - Grids.

#### April 2023

If the 2023 AABC CPI exceeds the April 2023 GWI of 5.5%, then, on April 1, 2023 the April 2023 GWI will be adjusted upwards to reflect a COLA equal to the difference between the April 2023 GWI and the 2023 AABC CPI up to a maximum of 1.25%.

#### April 2024

If the 2024 AABC CPI exceeds the April 2024 GWI of 2.0%, then, on April 1, 2024 the April 2024 GWI will be adjusted upwards to reflect a COLA equal to the difference between the April 2024 GWI and the 2024 AABC CPI up to a maximum of 1.00%.

## Schedule D **Grievance Procedure**

				Time Limits		
Step	Method to Initiate	Who's Involved	Initiate or Advance	Meeting to Happen	Response	Comments
Informal (OPTIONAL)	Discussion between a;ected employee(s), Union and/or Administrative Supervisor	Employee, steward, supervisor or administrator	Extensions to the time agreement between t	Parties will resolve the matter within 10 working days. Extensions to the time limits may be made by mutual agreement between the parties. If the matter cannot be resolved informally, a grievance may be initiated.		
1	In writing to the Associate Vice- President, Human Resources indicating the nature	Employee/steward or Union rep and the Associate Vice- President, Human Resources or designate	Within 15 working days of failure to resolve at the Informal Stage, the event, or becoming aware	Within 10 working days	Within 10 working days of the meeting	The Associate Vice- President, Human Resources may be accompanied by another person
2	In writing to the Associate Vice- President, Human Resources and the Union O;ice	Employee/steward Union rep and President + Vice Chancellor or delegate	Within 10 working days of the Step 1 response	Within 10 working days	Within 10 working days of the meeting	The Vice President Finance + Administration may be accompanied by another person
3	In writing to the President and the Union O;ice	Not specified	Within 20 working days of the Step 2 response	Within 30 calendar days*	Within 30 calendar days*	This step is optional; either Party may request it and the other may refuse; the Parties can agree that this step is final and binding
4	In writing to the President and the Union O;ice	Not specified	Within 20 working days of the Step 2 or Step 3 response	Not specified**	Not specified**	The decision is final and binding

\* The hearing and the response depend on the Investigator's schedule \*\* The hearing and the response depend on the Arbitrator's schedule

# Schedule E

# Table Showing Vacation Entitlement in Hours (see Clause 10.1)

Start Year	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025
2025	N/A	112*							
2024	N/A	112*	147						
2023	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	112*	147	147
2022	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	112*	147	147	147
2021	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	112*	147	147	147	147
2020	N/A	N/A	N/A	112*	147	147	147	147	154
2019	N/A	N/A	112*	147	147	147	147	154	161
2018	N/A	112*	147	147	147	147	154	161	168
2017	112*	147	147	147	147	154	161	168	175
2016	147	147	147	147	154	161	168	175	182
2015	147	147	147	154	161	168	175	182	189
2014	147	147	154	161	168	175	182	189	196
2013	147	154	161	168	175	182	189	196	203
2012	154	161	168	175	182	189	196	203	210
2011	161	168	175	182	189	196	203	210	217
2010	168	175	182	189	196	203	210	217	217
2009	175	182	189	196	203	210	217	217	217
2008	182	189	196	203	210	217	217	217	217
2007	189	196	203	210	217	217	217	217	217
2006	196	203	210	217	217	217	217	217	217
2005	203	210	217	217	217	217	217	217	217
2004	210	217	217	217	217	217	217	217	217
2003	217	217	217	217	217	217	217	217	217
2002	217	217	217	217	217	217	217	217	217
2001	217	217	217	217	217	217	217	217	217

\* Vacation entitlement in the first year is 112 hours pro-rated

# Schedule F

#### Labour Relations Code (as of 2 November 1999)

#### **Adjustment Plan - Section 54**

- 1. If an employer introduces or intends to introduce a measure, policy, practice or change that affects the terms, conditions or security of employment of a significant number of employees to whom a collective agreement applies:
  - a. The employer shall give notice to the trade union that is Party to the collective agreement at least 60 days before the date on which the measure, policy, practice or change is to be effected; and
  - b. After notice has been given, the employer and trade union must meet, in good faith, and endeavour to develop an adjustment plan, which may include provisions respecting any of the following:
    - (i) consideration of alternatives to the proposed measure, policy, practice or change, including amendment of provisions in the collective agreement
    - (ii) human resource planning and employee counselling and retraining
    - (iii) notice of termination
    - (iv) severance pay
    - (v) entitlement to pension and other benefits including early retirement benefits
    - (vi) a bipartite process for overseeing the implementation of the adjustment plan.
- 2. If, after meeting in accordance with subsection (1), the Parties have agreed to an adjustment plan, it is enforceable as if it were part of the collective agreement between the employer and the trade union.
- 3. Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to the termination of the employment of employees exempted by section 65 of the *Employment Standards Act* from the application of section 64 of that Act.

(NOTE: Section 65 of the *Employment Standards Act* refers to termination for just cause, of casual employees, of temporary employees hired for periods of less than one (1) year, and of employees who have been offered and refused reasonable alternative work by the University.)

# **INDEX**

		Clause	Page
Α	Absence from Duty	11.0	34
	Access to Additional Casual Work for Permanent Employees	2.9	8
	Adjustments to Salary	7.5	1 <b>8</b>
	Allocation of Classifications to Pay Grades	Schedule A	5 <b>7</b>
	Alternate Dispute Resolution Methods	6. <b>9</b>	1 <b>5</b>
	Annual Vacation	10.1	2 <b>5</b>
	Casual Employees	2.5.6	5
	Temporary Employees	2.4.17 & 18	3
	Term Employees	2.8.9	7
	Appeal Process (Job Evaluation Review)	7.3	15
	Arbitration (Grievances)	6.5	13
	Armed Forces Reserved Training	11.10	34
В	Benefits	10.0	2 <b>5</b>
	Casual Employees	2.5.2	4
	Probationary Employees	2.3.3	1 <b>-2</b>
	Parenting Leave	12.3.2 & 3	40
	Temporary Employees	2.4.11 & 12	2 <b>-3</b>
	Term Employees	2.8.5 & 6	6
	Benefits Plan Information	10.16	3 <b>3</b>
	Bereavement Leave	11.4	3 <b>5</b>
	Bidding Rights	17.2	50
	Temporary Employees	2.4.27	4
	Bumping Rights	13.1.4 - 6	43
С	Carry Over of Vacation	10.1.6 & 7	2 <b>6</b>
	Casual Employees and Positions	2.5	4

		Clause	Page
	Benefits	2.5.2	4
	General Holidays	2.5.8	5
	Increments	2.5.3 - 5	4 <b>-5</b>
	Rehiring	2.5.9	5
	Vacation Pay	2.5.6	5
	Winter Break	2.5.7	5
	Change in Shift	8.1.3	1 <b>9</b>
	Check Off	4.4	9
	Chemicals (Use of)	19.3	54
	Winter Break	10.2	2 <b>6</b>
	Casual Employees	2.5.7	5
	Part-Time Employees	2.7.3	5
	Temporary Employees	2.4.17	3
	Term Employees	2.8.10	7
	Classification List	Schedule A	5 <b>7</b>
	Coffee Breaks	8.1.5 & 6	20
	Compensating Time Off	8.5.5 & 9 – 11	2 <b>2</b>
	Compressed Work Week	8.3	21
	Computer Purchase Plan	10.19	34
	Construction and Workplace Changes	19.3	54
	Consultation Committee	5.0	1 <b>2</b>
	Correspondence	4.11	11
	Court Appearance	11.9	3 <b>8</b>
	Creation of Permanent Part-Time Positions	2.6	5
	Creation of Permanent Term Positions	2.6	5
D	Days and Hours of Work	8.1	1 <b>9</b>
	Death Benefit	10.17	34

		Clause	Page
	Deferred Savings Plan	10.7	2 <b>8</b>
	Definition of University	2.1.1	1
	Definition of University President	2.1.2	1
	Definition of Union	2.1.3	1
	Definition of Seniority	14.1	4 <b>4</b>
	Definition of Technological Change	19.1.1	53
	Definitions + Coverage for Employee Benefits	2.0	1
	Dental Plan	10.13	32
Ε	Employees with Disabilities	18.11	52
	Disciplinary Meetings	4.12	12
	Discipline or Dismissal	4.13	12
	Discrimination	16.1.1	47
	Dismissal	4.13	12
	Duty Months for Term Positions	2.8.2	6
	Early Retirement Plan	10.15	3 <b>3</b>
	Early Return from Leave	17.5	51
	Educational and Professional Development	15.0	45
	Education Leave	15.1	45
	Emergency Response Leave	11.11	3 <b>8</b>
	Emily Carr Courses	15.4	4 <b>6</b>
	Temporary Employees	2.4.25	4
	Employee and Family Assistance Plan	10.9	2 <b>9</b>
	Employee Benefits	10.0	2 <b>5</b>
	Employee Rights	16.0	4 <b>7</b>
	Employment Standards Act	20.1	5 <b>4</b>
	Ethics and University Policy	16.5	48
	Excess Workload	8.6	22

		Clause	Page
	Excluded Positions	7.7	19
	Experimental Work Schedules	8.3	21
	Extended Health Benefits	10.8	2 <b>8</b>
	Eye Exam	10.8.6	2 <b>9</b>
F	Family Illness	11.3	3 <b>5</b>
	Filling of Vacancies	17.2	50
	First Aid Premium	18.14	53
	First Aid Training	18.13	53
	Flex Time	8.2	20
	Part-Time Employees	8.2.1	20
	Temporary Employees	2.4.13	3
	Term Employees	2.8.14 & 8.2.1	7 & <b>20</b>
	Funeral Leave	11.4.8	3 <b>6</b>
G	General Changes	19.2	54
	General Holidays	10.3	2 <b>7</b>
	Casual Employees	2.5.8	5
	Part-Time Employees	2.7.6	6
	Temporary Employees	2.4.20	3
	Term Employees	2.8.7 & 8	7
	Gratuity Plan	10.12	31
	Parenting Leave	12.3.5	40
	Part-Time Employees	2.7.3	5
	Term Employees	2.8.9	7
	Great Northern Way	Schedule C	70
	Grievance and Arbitration Procedure	6.0	1 <b>3</b>
	Grievance Correspondence	4.11	11
	Grievance Procedure	6.1	3

		Clause	Page
	Chart	Schedule D	75
	Informal Resolution (Optional)	6.2	13
	Step 1	6. <b>3</b>	1 <b>3</b>
	Step 2	6.4	1 <b>4</b>
	Step 3 – Investigator	6. <b>5</b>	1 <b>4</b>
	Step 4 – Arbitration	6. <b>6</b>	1 <b>4-15</b>
	Time Limits	6.7	1 <b>5</b>
	Group Life Insurance	10.10	2 <b>9</b>
Н	Harassment	16.1.2	4 <b>7</b>
	Health Insurance	10.8	2 <b>8</b>
	Health Related Absence (Maternity)	12.1.10 & 11	3 <b>9</b>
	Health and Safety	18.0	51
	Health and Safety Committee	18.3	51
	Hiring Committees	17.6	51
	Hourly Rates	Schedule B	61
	Hours Free From Work	20. <b>1.1</b>	5 <b>4</b>
	Hours of Work	8.1	1 <b>9</b>
	Human Rights	16.1	4 <b>7</b>
I	Increments	9.2	2 <b>3</b>
	Casual Employees	2.5.3 - 5	4 <b>-5</b>
	Leave Without Pay	9.2.8	2 <b>3</b>
	Permanent Employees	9.2.1 & 2	2 <b>3</b>
	Promotion	9.2.7	2 <b>3</b>
	Reclassification	9.2.6	2 <b>3</b>
	Salary Review	9.2.6	2 <b>3</b>
	Temporary Employees	2.4.14-16	3
	Term Employees	2.8.11	7

		Clause	Page
	Transfer	9.2.7	2 <b>3</b>
	In-Hiring Rates of Pay	9.1.3	2 <b>3</b>
	Intellectual Property	20. <b>3</b>	5 <b>4</b>
	Introduction of Technological Change	19.1.2	53
J	Job Bidding Rights	17.2	50
	Temporary Employees	2.4.28	4
	Job Classifications	Schedule A	5 <b>7</b>
	Job Evaluation and Salary Review	7.0	1 <b>6</b>
	Adjudication	7.3.4	1 <b>7</b>
	Adjustments to Salary	7.5	1 <b>8-19</b>
	Appeal Process– Job Evaluation Review	7.3	1 <b>7</b>
	Appeal Process – Anomalous Positions	7.4	1 <b>8</b>
	New Positions	7.6	1 <b>9</b>
	Review Procedure	7.2	1 <b>6</b>
	Job Posting	17.1	4 <b>9</b>
	Job Sharing	8.3	21
	Joint Consultation Committee	5.0	1 <b>2</b>
	Jury Duty & Court Appearance	11.9	3 <b>8</b>
L	Labour Relations Code	Schedule F	7 <b>7</b>
	Layoff, Recall and Severance Pay	13.0	42
	Layoff	13.1	42
	Temporary Employees	2.4.26	4
	Term Employees	2.8.3 - 5	6
	Leave of Absence Without Pay	11.8	3 <b>7</b>
	Armed Force Reserve Training	11.10	3 <b>8</b>
	Education Leave	15.1.6	45

		Clause	Page
	Increments	9.2.8	2 <b>3</b>
	Parenting Leave	12.1 & 12.2	3 <b>9-40</b>
	Vacations	10.1.8	2 <b>6</b>
	Long Term Disability Plan	10.11	30
	Maternity Leave	12.1.11	3 <b>9</b>
	Loss of Seniority	14.3	4 <b>4</b>
	Lunch Breaks	8.1.4 & 6	1 <b>9-20</b>
Μ	Management Rights	3.0	9
	Maternity Leave	12.1	9
	Тор Up	12.4 & 12.5	41 & 42
	Meal Breaks	8.1.4 & 6	1 <b>9-20</b>
	Medical Insurance	10.8	2 <b>8</b>
	Meetings During Meal Breaks	8.1.8	20
	Membership Information	4.8	11
	Miscellaneous Issues	20.0	54
	Municipal Pension Plan	10.6	2 <b>8</b>
	Parenting Leave	12.3.4	40
	Part-Time Employees	2.7.4	5
	Term Employees	2.8.15	7
	New Positions	7.6	1 <b>9</b>
	Notice of Layoff	13.1.2 & 3	42
	Notice of Shift Change	8.1.3	1 <b>9</b>
	Notice of Construction and Workplace Changes	19.3	54
	Notification and Filling of Vacancies	17.0	4 <b>9</b>
	Notification of Vacancies	17.1	4 <b>9</b>
0	Observation of Holidays	10.3.1 & 2	2 <b>7</b>

		Clause	Page
	Occupational Sickness & Injury	11.1	3 <b>4</b>
	Occupational Health & Safety	18.3	51
	Occupational Health & Safety Updates	18.4	51
	Optical Care Insurance	10.8.4	2 <b>9</b>
	Overpayments	9.6	24
	Overtime	8.5	21
Ρ	Parental Leave	12.2	40
	Тор Up	12.4	41
	Parenting Leave	12.0	37
	Part-Time Employees	2.7	5
	Part-Time Positions	2.7	5
	Creation	2.6	5
	Increase of Hours	2.7.1 & 2	5
	Pay Dates	9.4	24
	Payment of Gratuity	10.12.8 & 9	32
	Pension Plan	10.6	2 <b>8</b>
	Parenting Leave	12.3.4	40
	Part-Time Employees	2.7.4	5
	Term Employees	2.8.15	7
	Periods Free From Work	20.1 <b>.1</b>	54
	Permanent Employee	2.2	1
	Permanent Part-Time Employees and Positions	2.7	5
	Creation	2.6	5
	General Holidays	2.7.6	6
	Gratuity	2.7.3	5
	Increase of Hours	2.7.1 & 2	5
	Municipal Pension Plan	2.7.4	5

	Clause	Page
Sick Leave	2.7.3	5
Vacation	2.7.3	5
Winter Break	2.7.3	5
Permanent Term Employees and Positions	2.8	6
Benefits	2.8.5 & 6	6
Duty Months	2.8.2	6
Flex Time	2.8.14 & 8.2.1	7 & <b>20</b>
General Holidays	2.8.7 & 8	7
Gratuity	2.8.9	7
Increase to Twelve Months	2.8.16	7
Increments	2.8.11	7
Layoff	2.8.3 & 4	6
Municipal Pension Plan	2.8.15	7
Seniority	2.8.11	7
Sick Leave	2.8.9	7
Vacations	2.8.9 & 11 -13	7
Winter Break	2.8.10	7
Personal Computer Purchase Plan	10.19	34
Personal Duties	16.2	4 <b>7</b>
Personal Leave	11.8	3 <b>7</b>
Personnel File	4.10	11
Picket Lines	4.3	9
Plural and Singular	2.1.4	1
Posting	17.1	4 <b>9</b>
Preference for Vacancies	17.2	50
Temporary Employees	2.4.28	4
Employees with Disabilities	18.11	52

		Clause	Page
	Present Conditions & Benefits	2 <b>1</b> .6	55
	Probationary Employee	2.3	1
	Probationary Period	2.2 & 2.3.1	1
	Temporary Employees	2.4.4 - 2.4.8	2
	Production of Agreements	21.0	5 <b>4</b>
	Professional Development	15.3	4 <b>6</b>
	Promotion or Transfer	17.3	50
	Protective Clothing	18.10	52
	Public University Board Meetings	20.2	54
R	Recall	13.2	43
	Recovery of Overpayments	9.6	24
	Regular Supplementary Unemployment Benefits	12.4	41
	Rehiring	17.4	50
	Casual Employees	2.5.9	5
	Reinstatement	6. <b>8</b>	1 <b>5</b>
	Renovations and Repairs	19.3	54
	Rest Breaks	8.1.5 & 6	20
	Retirement	10.14	32
	Early Return From Leave	17.5	51
	Rights of Management	3.0	9
S	Safety Equipment	18.10	52
	Salaries	Schedule B	61
	Salary Protection (Layoff)	13.1.5	43
	Salary Schedule	9.1	2 <b>3</b>
	Same Gender Spouse	10.18	34
	Scheduling Vacation	10.1.5	2 <b>6</b>
	Second Shifts	8.4	21

	Clause	Page
Seniority	14.0	4
Filling of Vacancies	17.2.2	50
Temporary Employees	2.4.9	2
Seniority List	14.2	4 <b>4</b>
Severance Pay	13.3	4 <b>3</b>
Temporary Employees	2.4.27	4
Shift Change	8.1.3	1 <b>9</b>
Shift Premium	Schedule B	61
Shop Stewards	4.7	10
Preparation for Meetings	4.5.4	10
Attendance at Meetings	4.5.6	10
Sick Leave	10.5	2 <b>7</b>
Part-Time Employees	2.7.3	5
Temporary Employees	2.4.21 - 24	4
Term Employees	2.8.9	7
Singular and Plural	2.1.4	1
Special Supplementary Unemployment Benefits	12.5	42
Step 1 (Grievance Procedure)	6. <b>3</b>	1 <b>3</b>
Step 2 (Grievance Procedure)	6. <b>4</b>	1 <b>4</b>
Step 3 (Investigator)	6. <b>5</b>	1 <b>4</b>
Step 4 (Arbitration)	6. <b>6</b>	1 <b>4-15</b>
Step Increase	9.2	21 <b>3</b>
Studio Technician Vacation	10.1.4	2 <b>6</b>
SUB Plans	12.4 & 5	<b>41</b> & <b>42</b>
Substitution	9.3	2 <b>3</b>
Superannuation	10.6	2 <b>8</b>
Parenting Leave	12.3.4	40

		Clause	Page
	Part-Time Employees	2.7.4	5
	Term Employees	2.8.15	7
Т	Technical Assistant Vacation	10.1.4	2 <b>6</b>
	Technological Change	19.1	53
	Temporary Employees and Positions	2.4	2
	Benefits	2.4.11 & 12	2
	Emily Carr Courses	2.4.25	4
	Flex Time	2.4.13	3
	General Holiday	2.4.20	3
	Increments	2.4.14 - 2.4.16	3
	Layoff	2.4.27	4
	Preference for Vacancies	2.4.28	4
	Probationary Period	2.4.4 – 2.4.8	2
	Severance Pay	2.4.27	4
	Seniority	2.4.9	2
	Sick Leave	2.4.21 - 2.4.24	4
	Vacation	2.4.17 - 2.4.18	3
	Winter Break	2.4.19	3
	Temporary Position Definition	2.4.1	2
	Temporary Promotion or Transfer	17.3.4	50
	Term Employees and Positions	2.8	6
	Term of Agreement	1.0	1
	Time Limits (Grievances)	6.7	1 <b>5</b>
	Тор Up	12.4 & 5	41-42
	Training (Technological Change)	19.1.3	54
	Transfer or Promotion	17.3	50

		Clause	Page
	Trial Period	17.3.1 – 17.3.4	50
U	Understandings From Bargaining	Schedule C	70
	Union Activity	4.6	10
	Union Bargaining Committee	4.5.2 & 3	9 <b>-10</b>
	Union Business	4.5.1	9
	Union Definition	2.1.3	1
	Union Dues	4.4	9
	Union Leave	4.5	9
	Union Membership	4.1	9
	Union Security	4.0	9
	University Board Meetings	20.2	5 <b>4</b>
	University Course Registration	15.4.1	4 <b>6</b>
	University Definition	2.1.1	1
	University Policy	16.5	48
	University President Definition	2.1.2	1
	Use of Chemicals	19.3	54
V	Vacancies – Notification	17.1	4 <b>9</b>
	Vacation	10.1	2 <b>5</b>
	Casual Employees	2.5.6	5
	Temporary Employees	2.4.18 - 19	3
	Term Employees	2.8.9	7
	Vacation Table	Schedule E	76
W	Wage Rates	Schedule B	61
	Weekend Premium	Schedule B	61
	Winter Break	2.4.19	3
	Work Day	8.1.2 & 7	19-20
	Work Related Meetings	8.1.8	20

	Clause	Page
Work Week	8.1.1	1 <b>9</b>
Workers' Compensation	11.1	3 <b>4</b>
Working Conditions	8.0	1 <b>9</b>
Working Titles	Schedule A	5 <b>7</b>
Workshop Presentations	9.5	24
Workplace Changes	19 <b>.0</b>	53
Written Response	16.6	48